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At Western Oregon University, we are proud to serve our incredibly diverse student body 
and be an emerging Hispanic-Serving Institution. Over 40% of our students are students 
of color, 48% are first-generation, 25% of our undergraduate students are Latiné, and 
40% are Pell-eligible. We are also the oldest public institution in Oregon and produce the 
most classroom-ready teachers of any institution in Oregon. Though we are 82% in-state 
students, we also draw students from many western states, including Alaska and Hawaii. If 
you put all of that together, the varied lived experiences among our students are amazing. 
For me, it’s more than amazing; it’s inspirational, and I think we are all privileged to work in 
this environment. 

Western Oregon University is on the brink of a transformative shift, with a new mission 
statement and strategic plan reflecting our commitment to personalized learning, fostering 
a deep sense of belonging, and empowering individuals. Our new mission statement 
reads, “Western Oregon University provides a personalized learning community where 
individuals experience a deep sense of belonging and 
empowerment.” This statement marks a significant evolution 
in our vision and core values, as we aim to become a model 
of intentional inclusion and accessibility, enhancing social 
mobility and life success by focusing on critical thinking and 
communication skills. The strategic plan charts the course of 
the university’s growth over the next six years focusing on 
four key goals: Institutional Sustainability; Student Success; 
Transformational Diversity; and Community Strength.

We know that an institution of higher education provides 
opportunities for students; it allows them access to degrees 
that lead to career pathways. But it is not only about career. 
A university is a place of learning. Students don’t come to 
Western simply to get jobs; they come here to learn things. 
And the best learning environments in the world are the 
ones that encourage and hone critical thinking skills, that 
demand innovative thinking, that demonstrate collaboration, that develop communication 
skills. And because of our diversity, because of our commitment to being open and 
inclusive as we educate, this university is poised to set some new standards, to lead in 
innovative ways. And I say that knowing we have much work to do, and I know we won’t 
always get things right. But that won’t stop us from trying to be better and do better.

A regional university, like Western Oregon University, sees a student as a whole person, a 
complex individual who seeks to walk through the doors that a college degree can open. 
And here we walk with our students, providing support and guidance, always believing 
they can achieve whatever goals they set. This is a place of transformation, a place where 
you belong.

Always serving students,

Jesse Peters
President
Western Oregon University
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Western Oregon University 
Monmouth, Oregon 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented 
component unit of Western Oregon University (the University), a component unit of the State of 
Oregon, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities and the discretely presented 
component unit of the University as of June 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position 
and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
We did not audit the financial statements of the Western Oregon University Development Foundation 
(the Foundation), which represents 100 percent of the assets, net assets and revenues of the discretely 
presented component unit as of June 30, 2024. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose 
report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the 
Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
University, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
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Relationship with the State of Oregon 

As described in Note 1, the financial statements of the University are intended to present the financial 
position, changes in financial position, and cash flows attributable to the University. They do not purport 
to, and do not present fairly the financial position of the State of Oregon as of June 30, 2024, and the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles general 
accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Restatement and Reissuance  

As described in Note 18, subsequent to the issuance of the University’s 2024 financial statements and 
our report thereon dated November 12, 2024, we became aware that those financial statements 
contained a misclassification of restricted cash amounts as noncurrent assets. This resulted in the 
current cash and cash equivalent balance to be understated and noncurrent cash and cash equivalents 
to be overstated. In our original report we expressed an unmodified opinion on the 2024 financial 
statements, and our opinion on the revised statements, as expressed herein, remains unmodified.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University‘s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
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procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University‘s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, schedule of University contributions, schedule of University’s proportionate 
share of net pension asset/(liability), schedule of University PERS RHIA OPEB employer contribution, 
schedule of University’s proportionate share of the net PERS RHIA OPEB asset/(liability), schedule of 
University PERS RHIPA OPEB employer contribution, schedule of University’s proportionate share of the 
net PERS RHIPA OPEB asset/(liability), and the schedule of University’s proportionate share of the total 
PEBB OPEB liability as noted in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information  
 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises The WOU Board of Trustees, President’s Cabinet, and the Message from our 
President, but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an 
opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and 
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
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based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 12, 
2024 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the University’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 
 
 
Boise, Idaho 
November 12, 2024, except for the Statement of Net Position, Note 2 and Note 18, for which the date is 
December 13, 2024 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Introduction
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial 
position and activities of Western Oregon University (WOU) for the year ended June 30, 2024, 
with comparative data for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. This discussion has been prepared 
by management to assist readers in understanding the accompanying financial statements and 
footnotes. 

Fall Full Time Equivalent (FTE) Student Enrollment Summary:
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
3,165 3,069 3,340 3,829 4,134

Understanding the Financial Statements
The MD&A focuses on WOU as a whole and is intended to foster a greater understanding of WOU’s 
financial activities. Since this presentation includes summarized formats, it should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements which have the following components. 

Statement of Net Position (SNP) presents a snapshot of WOU assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, 
and deferred inflows under the accrual basis of accounting as of June 30, for each fiscal year 
presented. The SNP helps the reader understand the types and amounts of assets available to 
support operations, the amount WOU owes to vendors and the State of Oregon, and net position 
delineated based upon their availability for future expenditures.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (SRE) presents WOU revenues 
and expenses categorized between operating, nonoperating and other related activities. The SRE 
reports the WOU operating results for each fiscal year presented.

Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) provides information about WOU’s sources (receipts) and uses 
(payments) of cash during the fiscal year. The SCF classifies sources and uses of cash into four 
categories, and assists in determining whether WOU has the ability to generate future net cash 
flows to meet its obligations as they come due.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Notes) provide additional information to clarify and expand on 
the financial statements.

Statement of Net Position
The term “Net Position” refers to the difference between (a) assets and deferred outflows of 
resources and (b) liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and is an indicator of WOU’s 
current financial condition. Changes in net position that occur over time indicate improvement or 
deterioration in WOU’s financial condition. The following summarizes WOU assets and deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and net position:



2024 Annual Financial Report  •  9

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Condensed Statement of Net Position (in 000’s)

Comparison of fiscal year 2024 to fiscal year 2023 (in 000’s)
On June 30, 2024, WOU’s assets were $204,923. Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, inventories, and prepaid expenses. Current 
assets decreased $33, or 0.1 percent, from the previous year. This decrease is primarily due to 
fluctuations in state capital contracts and federal grants.

Capital assets net of depreciation and amortization increased $15,918 or 12.7 percent. Construction 
continues on the new Student Success Center and the Steam Line replacement project. Additionally,  
build-out projects are continuing in the Welcome Center and WOU-Salem. The Welcome Center 
transition will bring together the Registrar Office, Financial Aid, Admissions, and the Business Office 
to better serve our students. The WOU-Salem build-out project will become the main campus for 
the new Occupational Therapy Doctorate program. 

Deferred outflows represent the consumption of net position attributable to a future period and 
are associated with WOU’s obligations for the pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB). 
Deferred outflows increased $1,847, or 12.3 percent.

Current liabilities consist primarily of accounts payables, accrued liabilities, unearned revenue, and 
the current portion of long-term liabilities. Current liabilities increased by $1,075, or 3.5 percent 
from the prior year. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in payables associated 
with construction of the Steam Pipe Project and the Student Success Center which are state-funded 
capital projects. 

Deferred inflows represent an acquisition of net position attributable to a future period and 
are associated with WOU’s defined benefit pension plan and OPEB obligations. Deferred inflows 
decreased by $6,628, or 62.0 percent.

As of June 30, 2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Current Assets, As Restated 33,252$   33,285$  (33)$         -0.1%
Noncurrent Assets, As Restated 30,830 30,571 259 0.8%
Capital Assets, Net 140,841 124,923 15,918 12.7%

Total Assets 204,923 188,779 16,144 8.6%

Deferred Outflows of Resources 16,853 15,006 1,847 12.3%

Current Liabilities 31,809 30,734 (1,075) -3.5%
Noncurrent Liabilities 82,356 75,868 (6,488) -8.6%

Total Liabilities 114,165 106,602 (7,563) -7.1%

Deferred Inflows of Resources 4,058 10,686 6,628 62.0%

Net Investment in Capital Assets 98,817 81,232 17,585 21.6%
Restricted - Expendable 6,490 7,429 (939) -12.6%
Unrestricted (1,754) (2,164) 410 -18.9%

Total Net Position 103,553$ 86,497$  17,056$  19.7%
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Net position is reported in three components with an overall increase of 19.7 percent. The largest 
portion of WOU’s net position is the $98,817 net investment in capital assets. This reflects the 
investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, machinery, right to use asset, and SBITAs) less 
any related, outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. WOU uses these capital assets to 
provide services to students; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. 
Although WOU’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be 
noted the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources. The capital 
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. The restricted component of net 
position consists of amounts set aside for debt service, student loans, other post-employment 
benefit assets, and grants and contracts. The remaining component is categorized as unrestricted. 
Unrestricted assets, as defined by GAAP, are funds that are not subject to externally imposed 
restrictions on their use. Unrestricted funds are allocated for academic programs, capital projects, 
reserves, and other purposes from year to year. With the implementation of GASB 68, 71, and 75, 
unrestricted net position has the potential to fluctuate materially from year to year. The fluctuation 
is dependent on state-wide investment returns and changes related to the actuarial unfunded 
liability for pensions and OPEB.  

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (in 000’s)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Operating Revenues 61,265$    60,245$    1,020$      1.7%
Operating Expenses 119,940 116,663 (3,277) -2.8%

Operating Loss (58,675) (56,418) (2,257) 4.0%
Nonoperating Revenues,

Net of Expenses 55,093 48,668 6,425 13.2%
Other Revenues 20,638 6,920 13,718 198.2%

17,056 (830) 17,886 -2154.9%
Net Position, Beginning of Year 86,497 87,327 (830) -1.0%
Net Position, End of Year 103,553$  86,497$    17,056$    19.7%

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Position

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (SRE)
Due to the classification of certain revenues as nonoperating revenue, WOU shows a loss from 
operations. State general fund appropriations, nonexchange grants, and non-capital gifts, although 
considered nonoperating revenue under GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for Public Colleges and Universities—an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 34 and reflected accordingly in the nonoperating section of the SRE, are used 
solely for operating purposes.
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Total Operating, Nonoperating and Other Revenues (in 000’s)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Student Tuition and Fees 24,002$     23,052$    950$          4.1%
Grants and Contracts 18,406 18,852 (446) -2.4%
Auxiliary Enterprises 16,358 14,822 1,536 10.4%
Educational and Other 2,499 3,519 (1,020) -29.0%

Total Operating Revenues 61,265 60,245 1,020 1.7%
   
Appropriations 36,356       33,823       2,533         7.5%
Federal and State Grants 16,755       14,436       2,319         16.1%
Gifts 1,285         1,326         (41)             -3.1%
Investment Activity 2,532         942            1,590         168.8%
Capital Grants and Gifts 20,259       6,541         13,718       209.7%
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets, Net 2                 -             2                 100.0%
Other nonoperating items -             5                 (5)                -100.0%

Total Nonoperating Revenues 77,189 57,073 20,116 35.2%
   Total Revenues 138,454$  117,318$  21,136$     18.0%

Revenues
Comparison of fiscal year 2024 to fiscal year 2023 (in 000’s)
Operating revenues increased by $1,020, or 1.7 percent, primarily due to increased student tuition 
and fees and auxiliary enterprises. Student tuition and fees increased by $950, or 4.1 percent. 

Non-operating revenues increased by $20,116, or 35.2 percent. The largest non-operating revenue 
is state appropriations, which increased by $2,533, or 7.5 percent. The State appropriated $1 billion 
for the Public University Support Fund (PUSF) for the 2023-25 biennium, a $100 million increase 
over the prior biennium. WOU’s portion of the PUSF is allocated based on the Student Success and 
Completion Model, which distributes 49 percent of the PUSF in the first year of the biennium, and 51 
percent in the second. Federal and State Grants increased by $2,319, or 16.1 percent. Capital Grants 
and Gifts shows a significant increase by $13,718, or 209.7 percent as activity increased on the 
Steam Pipe Project and the Student Success Center in 2024 (both are state-funded capital projects). 
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Total Operating and Nonoperating Expenses by Function (in 000’s)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Instruction 32,745$   31,614$       (1,131)$  -3.6%
Research 866 1,961 1,095      55.8%
Public Service 11,420 10,775 (645)        -6.0%
Academic Support 9,617 9,892 275         2.8%
Student Services 9,143 9,094 (49)          -0.5%
Auxiliary Programs 24,491 22,193 (2,298)    -10.4%
Institutional Support 10,231 9,405 (826)        -8.8%
Operation and Maintenance of Plant 5,395 5,131 (264)        -5.1%
Student Aid 9,009 8,059 (950)        -11.8%
Other Operating Expenses 7,023 8,539 1,516      17.8%

Total Operating Expenses 119,940 116,663 (3,277)    -2.8%

Interest Expense 1,458 1,485 27           1.8%
Total Expenses 121,398$ 118,148$     (3,250)$  -2.8%  

Expenses
Comparison of fiscal year 2024 to fiscal year 2023 (in 000’s)
Operating and nonoperating expenses totaling $121,398 include compensation and benefits, 
services and supplies, scholarships and fellowships, and depreciation and amortization. This is an 
increase of $3,250, or 2.8 percent. Without the adjustments to compensation and benefits required 
under GASB Statement Nos. 68, 71 and 75, total operating expenses for WOU would have increased 
by $1,152, or 1.0 percent, during 2024. Instruction expenses represent a large percentage of total 
expenses at $32,745, or 27.0 percent, of total expenses. This is an increase of $1,131, or 3.6 percent. 
Auxiliary programs represent $24,491, or 20.2 percent, of total expenses. This is an increase of 
$2,298, or 10.4 percent, primarily due to more on-campus activity. Student aid represents $9,009, or 
7.4 percent, of total expenses. This is an increase of $950, or 11.8 percent.

Capital Assets, Right to Use Assets and SBITAs (in 000’s)
WOU’s investment in capital assets, right to use assets, and SBITAs as of June 30, 2024, and 2023 
amounts to $140,841 and $124,924, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. 
WOU is committed to a comprehensive program of capital investment and facility maintenance 
that includes addressing current maintenance needs and minimizing WOU’s deferred maintenance 
backlog. State, Federal, private, debt, and internal WOU funding are all used to accomplish WOU’s 
capital objectives. See Note 5 Capital Assets for additional information. 

Debt Administration (in 000’s)
WOU’s total outstanding debt is $39,822 as of June 20, 2024, and $42,875 as of June 30, 2023. 
During 2024, long-term debt held by WOU decreased by $3,053. See Note 8 Long-Term Liabilities for 
additional details.

Economic Outlook
During fiscal year 2024, moderate enrollment growth, combined with expense containment 
activities contemplated in our five-year financial sustainability and enrollment growth model put the 
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University on a more solid financial footing.  Fall 2024 shows that the University lost some ground 
in enrollment, buffeted by the headwinds created by the FAFSA challenges. WOU’s financially stable 
and prosperous future will depend on the University’s continuing to follow the sustainability plan, 
adjusting to current conditions as they become clear. As noted last year, establishing a balanced 
level of revenues and expenses is the key to financial stability.  To that end, we have secured state 
funding to modernize our key business systems over the next three years in order to streamline 
processes and improve results. Our work to adjust to current conditions will include careful cost 
management to align with an expected near-term future, being strategic to take advantage of future 
opportunities.  At the same time, WOU needs to find creative and sustainable ways to invest into in-
demand academic programs and growing needs in important student services.

For the 2025-27 biennium, the Governor has indicated that her budget will include only a moderate 
inflation adjustment to the public university funding level, which is below the actual inflation of 
continuing service level costs, with very limited opportunity for funding beyond that level.  Of 
course, the legislature will evaluate the state general fund revenue forecast and the many needs for 
increased state support and will make the final decision on public university funding levels for next 
biennium in June of 2025. 

WOU continues to make significant strides in reaching Hispanic Serving Institution status while 
continuing to advance diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility across all aspects of WOU 
operations. In Fall 2024, Hispanic student population reached 25%. 

Moving forward, the WOU Board of Trustees and WOU leadership reaffirm our commitment to 
meeting the challenges of ensuring an affordable education, providing important student support 
services that meet our students’ unique needs, and improving the graduation rates of our students. 
Western Oregon University plans for continued success in carrying out its core mission as a 
premier comprehensive public university by preparing for these challenges. We move forward with 
determination, optimism, and thoughtful preparation, recognizing that WOU’s academic distinction 
and success is the result of the hard work and dedication of outstanding faculty, staff, and academic 
leaders who place the needs of our students first.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY

As of June 30, 2024
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents, As Restated  (Note 2) 8,992$              
Collateral from Securities Lending  (Note 2) 437                   
Accounts Receivable, Net  (Note 3) 22,059              
Notes Receivable, Net  (Note 4) 121                   
Inventories 1,181                
Prepaid Expenses 462                   

Total Current Assets 33,252              
Noncurrent Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents, As Restated  (Note 2) 676                   
Investments (Note 2) 28,574              
Notes Receivable, Net (Note 4) 496                   
OPEB Asset (Note 13) 1,084                
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (Note 5) 140,841            

Total Noncurrent Assets 171,671            
Total Assets 204,923$           

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 6) 16,853$            

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (Note 7) 12,157$            
Deposits 114                   
Obligations Under Securities Lending (Note 2) 437                   
Current Portion of Long-Term Liabilities (Note 8) 6,486                
Unearned Revenues 12,615              

Total Current Liabilities 31,809              
Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities (Note 8) 38,753              
Net Pension Liability (Note 12) 42,472              
OPEB Liability (Note 13) 1,131                

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 82,356              
Total Liabilities 114,165$           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 6) 4,058$              

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 98,817$            
Restricted Expendable For:

Gifts, Grants and Contracts 666                   
Student Loans 4,674                
Debt Service 66                    
OPEB Asset 1,084                

Unrestricted (1,754)               
Total Net Position 103,553$           

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION – COMPONENT UNIT

As of June 30, 2024
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 483$              
Investments (Note 2) 29,655           
Pledges Receivable 1,546             
Due from WOU 253                
Prepaids 42                  
Property and Equipment, Net 125                
Total Assets 32,104$        

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 70$                
Annuities Payable 153                
Total Liabilities 223                

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions

Undesignated 4,217             
Designated 786                

With Donor Restrictions
Purpose Restrictions 7,815             
Perpetual Restrictions 19,063           

Total Net Assets 31,881           
   

Total Liabilities & Net Assets 32,104$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
(In thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Student Tuition and Fees (Net of Allowances of $13,260) 24,002$          
Federal Grants and Contracts 13,495
State and Local Grants and Contracts 4,565
Nongovernmental Grants and Contracts 346
Educational Department Sales and Services 567
Auxiliary Enterprises Revenues (Net of Allowances of $1,626) 16,358
Other Operating Revenues 1,932

Total Operating Revenues 61,265

OPERATING EXPENSES
Instruction 32,745
Research 866
Public Service 11,420
Academic Support 9,617
Student Services 9,143
Auxiliary Programs 24,491
Institutional Support 10,231
Operation and Maintenance of Plant 5,395
Student Aid 9,009
Other Operating Expenses 7,023

Total Operating Expenses (Note 10) 119,940
Operating Loss (58,675)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Government Appropriations  (Note 11) 35,977
Debt Service Appropriations  (Note 11) 379
Federal and State Grants 16,755
Capital Grants and Gifts 20,259
Gifts 1,285
Investment Activity  (Note 9) 2,532
Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets 2
Interest Expense (1,458)

Net Nonoperating Revenues 75,731
Increase/(Decrease) In Net Position 17,056

NET POSITION
Beginning Balance 86,497
Ending Balance 103,553$        

    
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION – COMPONENT UNIT

For the Year Ended June 30,

Without 
Donor 

Restrictions

With Donor 
Restrictions Total

REVENUES
Contributions 927$            4,116$          5,043$   
Net Investment Return 323              3,377            3,700      
Miscellaneous 13                 335                348         

Total Revenues 1,263           7,828            9,091      

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS 2,606           (2,606)           -          

EXPENSES
University and Scholarships Program 2,504           -                 2,504      
Managerial and General 456              -                 456         
Fundraising 559              -                 559         

Total Expenses 3,519           -                 3,519      

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 350              5,222            5,572      

NET ASSETS, Beginning of Year 4,653           21,656          26,309   
   
NET ASSETS, End of Year 5,003$         26,878$        31,881$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2024
(In thousands)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
 (In thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  Tuition and Fees 24,543$        

Grants and Contracts 18,191           
Educational Department Sales and Services 567                
Auxiliary Enterprises Operations 16,420           
Payments to Employees for Compensation and Benefits (77,177)         
Payments to Suppliers (25,642)         
Student Financial Aid (10,036)         
Other Operating Receipts 1,950             

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (51,184)         

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Government Appropriations 35,977           
Federal and State Grants 16,755           
Other Gifts and Private Contracts 1,285             
Net Internal Agency Fund Payments (7)                   

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 54,010           

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debt Service Appropriations 379                
Capital Grants and Gifts 14,222           
Purchases of Capital Assets (15,372)         
Interest Payments on Capital Debt, RTU, and SBITAs (1,446)            
Principal Payments on Capital Debt, RTU, and SBITAs (3,929)            

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities (6,146)            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net Sales of Investments 529                
Income on Investments and Cash Balances 1,530             

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 2,059             

(1,261)            

CASH, RESTRICTED CASH, AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning Balance 10,929           
Ending Balance 9,668$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

NET CHANGE IN CASH, RESTRICTED CASH, AND CASH 
  EQUIVALENTS
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, continued
WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
 (In thousands)
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Loss (58,675)$       
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net Cash Used by
   Operating Activities:

Depreciation/Amortization Expense 7,220
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts Receivable (635)
Notes Receivable 309
Inventories 92
Prepaid Expenses 45
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (1,662)
Long-Term Liabilities (392)
Unearned Revenue 787
Net Pension Liability and Related Deferrals 2,231
OPEB Asset, Liability, and Related Deferrals (504)
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (51,184)$       

NONCASH INVESTING, NONCAPITAL FINANCING, AND CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

Increase (Decrease) in Fair Value of Investments Recognized as a
   Component of Investment Activity (1,002)$         
Subscription liability for the acquisition of a subscription based IT asset 1,358$           
Capital assets acquired through accounts payable 6,407$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A.	Reporting Entity
Western Oregon University (WOU) is governed by the Western Oregon University Board of Trustees 
(Board), a citizen board appointed by the Governor with confirmation by the State Senate. WOU is 
located in Monmouth, Oregon.

The financial reporting entity includes WOU and the Western Oregon University Development 
Foundation (Foundation), which is reported as a discretely presented component unit under the 
guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 
39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units. Discretely presented means 
that the statements are included separately in the financial report. See Note 17 for additional 
information relating to this component unit. The Governor of the State of Oregon (State) appoints 
the WOU Board, and because WOU receives financial support from the State, WOU is a discretely 
presented component unit of the State and is included in the State’s annual comprehensive financial 
report. 

B.	Financial Statement Presentation
WOU's financial accounting records are maintained in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles as prescribed in applicable pronouncements of the GASB. The financial 
statement presentation required by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for Public Colleges and Universities—an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 34, modified by GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets 
and Liabilities, provides a comprehensive, entity-wide perspective of WOU's assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net position, revenues, expenses, 
changes in net position, and cash flows. 

In preparing the financial statements, interfund transfers between WOU funds and internal 
revenues and expenses associated with self-supporting auxiliary and service center operations have 
been eliminated. Unless otherwise stated, dollars are presented in thousands.

Financial statements of the Foundation are discretely presented because of the difference in 
its reporting model. The Foundation’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). As such, certain revenue 
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue criteria and 
presentation. Accordingly, those financial statements have been reported on separate pages 
following the respective counterpart financial statements of WOU. No modifications have been 
made to the Foundation’s financial information included in WOU’s financial report.

C.	 Basis of Accounting
For financial reporting purposes, WOU is considered a special-purpose government engaged only 
in business-type activities. Accordingly, the WOU financial statements are presented using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual 
basis, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred.

UPCOMING ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Between June 2022 and April 2024, GASB issued the following statements which do not currently 
apply to WOU, but may under certain circumstances: Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, 
Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, and Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model 
Improvements. Management of WOU is continuing to evaluate the impact of these standards on 
WOU’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

D.	Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less. Cash and cash equivalents consist of: cash on hand, cash and investments held by 
the State in the Oregon Short-Term Fund (OSTF), and cash held by U.S. Bank as required by the U.S. 
Department of Education for Title IV funds. 

E.	 Investments
Investments are reported at fair value as determined by market prices. Unrealized gains or losses 
on investments are reported as investment activity in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position. 

Investments are classified as noncurrent assets in the Statement of Net Position. 

F.	 Receivables
Accounts receivable consist primarily of tuition and fees charged to students and auxiliary 
enterprise services provided to students, faculty, and staff. Accounts receivable for tuition and fee 
charges are recorded net of estimated uncollectable amounts in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. Grants and contracts receivable include amounts due from federal, state, and 
local governments, or private sources, in connection with reimbursement of allowable expenditures 
made pursuant to WOU’s grants and contracts. Capital construction receivables include amounts 
due from the State in connection with reimbursement of allowable expenditures made pursuant to 
the grant agreements between WOU and the State for facilities projects funded by the State. 

Notes receivable consist primarily of student loans receivable due from the Federal Perkins 
Loan Program and from other loans administered by WOU. Construction reimbursements loan 
receivables are amounts receivable from the State in connection with reimbursement of allowable 
expenditures made pursuant to the contracts between WOU and the State for facilities projects 
funded by WOU. Construction reimbursements can be current or long-term depending on the 
estimated timing of completion of construction projects. WOU does not currently hold any notes 
receivable from the State related to construction reimbursements.

G.	 Inventories
Inventories are recorded at lower of cost or net-realizable value, with cost being generally 
determined on a first-in, first-out or average basis. Inventories consist primarily of supplies in 
storerooms and physical plant stores.

H.	Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost on the date acquired or at acquisition value on the date donated. 
WOU capitalizes equipment with unit costs of $5 thousand or more and an estimated useful life 
of greater than one year. WOU will also capitalize alike assets when individually the assets are 
below the threshold defined above, but when considered in aggregate are in excess of 1 percent 
of the total approved University budget for the year under audit. WOU capitalizes real property 
expenditures that increase the functionality and/or extend the useful life of the real property if total 
expenditures meet or exceed $50 thousand, depending on the type of real property. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, generally 20 to 50 years for buildings, 15 to 20 years for infrastructure and land improve-
ments, 10 years for library books and 3 to 15 years for equipment. Amortization terms of intangible 
assets vary depending on the factors relating to the specific asset. Depreciation is not applied to 
land, museum collections, works of art or historical treasures, or library special collections. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Right to use leased assets are recognized at the lease commencement date and represent WOU’s 
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Right to use leased assets are measured at the 
initial value of the lease liability plus any payments made to the lessor before commencement of the 
lease term, less any lease incentives received from the lessor at or before the commencement of the 
lease term, plus any initial direct costs necessary to place the lease asset into service. Right to use 
leased assets are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset 
using the same method amortizing the debt. The amortization period varies from 5 to 10 years.

Right to use subscription IT assets are recognized at the subscription commencement date 
and represent WOU’s right to use the underlying IT asset for the subscription term. Right to 
use subscription IT assets are measured at the initial value of the subscription liability plus any 
payments made to the vendor at the commencement of the subscription term, less any subscription 
incentives received from the vendor at or before the commencement of the subscription term, plus 
any capitalizable initial implementation costs necessary to place the subscription asset into service. 
Right to use subscription IT assets are amortized over the shorter of the subscription term or useful 
life of the underlying asset using the same method amortizing the debt. The amortization periods 
vary from 1 to 4 years.

I.	 Unearned Revenues
Unearned revenues include amounts received for tuition and fees, grants and contracts, and 
auxiliary enterprises activities in which cash has been received, but revenues will be earned in 
subsequent fiscal year(s). 

J.	 Compensated Absences
WOU accrues a liability for vacation leave and other compensated absences that were earned but 
not used during the current or prior fiscal year for which employees can receive compensation in 
a future period. An estimate is made to allocate this liability between its current and noncurrent 
components. 

Sick leave is recorded as an expense when paid. 

K.	 Net Pension Liability
The net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, are actuarially determined at the system-wide Plan level and are 
allocated to employers based on their proportionate share. WOU is included in the proportionate 
share for all state agencies. WOU’s proportionate share of all state agencies is allocated to WOU by 
the Oregon State Department of Administrative Services. Investments are reported at fair value.

L.	 Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Liabilities and Asset
The net OPEB liabilities and asset, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to PERS, PEBB, and OPEB expense, are actuarially determined at the system-wide Plan 
level and are allocated to employers based on their proportionate share. WOU is included in the 
proportionate share for all state agencies. WOU’s proportionate share of all state agencies is 
allocated to WOU by the State of Oregon Department of Administrative Services. Investments are 
reported at fair value.

M.	Long-term Liabilities 
In the financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the straight-line method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Lease Liabilities represent WOU’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Lease 
Liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of future 
lease payments expected to be made during the lease term. The present value of lease payments is 
discounted based on a borrowing rate determined by WOU.

Subscription liabilities represent WOU’s obligation to make subscription payments arising from the 
subscription contract. Subscription liabilities are recognized at the subscription commencement 
date based on the present value of future subscription payments expected to be made during the 
subscription term. The present value of subscription payments is discounted based on a borrowing 
rate determined by WOU.

N.	Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of net position in one period that is 
applicable to future periods. These deferred outflows have a positive effect on net position that 
is similar to assets, but they are not considered assets. Deferred inflows of resources represent 
the acquisition of net position that is applicable to future periods. These deferred inflows have a 
negative effect on net position, but they are not considered liabilities. Deferred outflows and inflows 
are related to defined benefit pension plans and defined benefit OPEB plans. See Note 6 Deferred 
Inflows and Deferred Outflows of Resources, Note 12 Employee Retirement Plans and Note 13 Other 
Postemployment Benefit Plans (OPEB) for additional information.

O.	Net Position
WOU’s net position is classified as follows:

NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 

Net investment in capital assets represents the total investment in capital assets and right to use 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, less outstanding debt obligations related 
to those capital assets. 

RESTRICTED – EXPENDABLE

Restricted expendable includes resources which WOU is legally or contractually obligated to spend 
in accordance with restrictions imposed by external parties.

UNRESTRICTED

Unrestricted are resources that may be used at the discretion of the Board. 

P.	 Restricted/Unrestricted Resources
WOU has no formal policy addressing which resources to use when both restricted and unrestricted 
net position are available for the same purpose. WOU personnel decide which resources to use 
at the time expenses are incurred. Factors used to determine which resources to use include 
relative priorities of WOU in accordance with the WOU’s strategic initiatives and externally imposed 
matching requirements of certain restricted funds. Major capital purchases are often split funded 
from multiple restricted and unrestricted funding sources.

Q.	Endowments
There are no amounts reported as Nonexpendable Endowments on the Statement of Net Position. 
Endowments that benefit WOU are owned and reported by the Foundation.

The Board established a quasi-endowment in 2019. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

The Foundation policy is to annually distribute, for spending purposes to WOU, four percent of the 
preceding 20 quarter moving average of the market value of the endowment funds and to maintain 
the purchasing power of the funds as nearly as prudent investment permits. 

R.	 Income Taxes
WOU is treated as a governmental entity for tax purposes. As such, WOU is generally not subject to 
federal and state income taxes. However, WOU remains subject to income taxes on any income that 
is derived from a trade or business regularly carried on and not in furtherance of the purpose for 
which it was granted exemption from income taxes. No income tax is recorded for the year ended 
June 30, 2024, because there is no significant amount of taxes on such unrelated business income 
for WOU.

S.	 Revenues and Expenses
WOU has classified its revenues and expenses as either operating or nonoperating according to the 
following criteria:

Operating revenues and expenses generally have the characteristics of exchange transactions. 
These transactions can be defined as an exchange in which two or more entities both receive and 
sacrifice value, such as purchases and sales of goods or services. Examples of operating revenues 
include student tuition and fees, sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, most federal, state, and 
local grants and contracts, and other operating revenues. Examples of operating expenses include 
employee compensation and benefits, scholarships and fellowships, utilities, supplies and other 
services, professional fees, and depreciation.

Nonoperating revenues and expenses generally have the characteristics of nonexchange 
transactions. In a nonexchange transaction, WOU receives value without directly giving equal 
value in exchange. Examples of nonoperating revenues include state appropriations, nonexchange 
grants, gifts, investment activity, and contributions. Nonoperating expenses are defined in GASB 
Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and 
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, and GASB Statement No. 34, Basic 
Financial Statement - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments. 
Examples of nonoperating expenses include interest on capital debt and loss on sale of assets.

T.	 State Support
WOU receives support from the State in the form of general fund, lottery appropriations and debt 
service appropriations for some Oregon Department of Energy loans. See Note 11 Government 
Appropriations for details on appropriations. 

In addition to appropriations, the State provides funding for plant facilities on the WOU’s campus. 
Capital projects for new facilities and capital improvements and repair are funded by philanthropy, 
campus paid debt and resources, and state-paid debt. The state legislature considers projects from 
all seven public universities for allocation of Oregon’s bonding capacity. Funds for capital projects 
funded by state-paid debt are provided through grant agreements between WOU and the State. 
Revenue is recorded as Capital Grants in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in 
Net Position when appropriate expenditures are reimbursable per the grant agreements. Funds 
for capital projects funded by campus paid debt can also be funded through Oregon’s bonding 
capacity. At the time that the bonds are sold the State instructs WOU to record a liability for the 
debt and a receivable for construction reimbursements. The receivable is reduced as expenditures 
on the capital project are completed and reimbursed by the State.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Facilities funded by philanthropy, state-paid debt and campus paid debt are reflected as completed 
assets or construction in progress in the Statement of Net Position. The obligations for the bonds 
issued by the State are not obligations of WOU. WOU is obligated to pay contracts for projects 
funded by campus paid debt. These contracts are included as current and long-term liabilities in the 
Statement of Net Position.

U.	 Allowances
Student tuition and fees and campus housing fees included in auxiliary enterprises revenues 
are reported net of scholarship allowances. A scholarship allowance is the difference between 
WOU’s stated rates and charges, and the amounts actually paid by students and/or third parties 
making payments on behalf of the students. Under this approach, scholarships awarded by WOU 
are considered as reductions in tuition and fee revenues rather than as expenses. Additionally, 
certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants, and payments from other federal, state, or 
nongovernmental programs, are required to be recorded as either operating or nonoperating 
revenues in WOU’s financial statement. To the extent that revenues from such programs are 
applied to tuition, fees, and other student charges, WOU has reported a corresponding scholarship 
allowance. 

WOU has three types of allowances that net into tuition and fees and auxiliary enterprise revenues. 
Tuition and housing waivers, provided directly by WOU, amounted to $4,810. Revenues from 
financial aid programs (e.g., Pell Grants, Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants, and Oregon 
Opportunity Grants) used for paying student tuition and fees and campus housing was estimated to 
be $13,308. Bad debt expense is included as an allowance to operating revenues and is estimated to 
be $779. 

V.	 Federal Student Loan Programs
WOU receives proceeds from the Federal Direct Student Loan Program. Since WOU transmits 
this grantor supplied money without having administrative or direct financial involvement in the 
program, these loans are reported in an internal agency fund. Federal student loans received by 
WOU students but not reported in operations was $14,437.

W.	Deposit Liabilities
Deposit Liabilities primarily consist of fund balances held by WOU on behalf of student groups and 
organizations that account for activities in the WOU accounting system and whose cash is part of 
the cash held on deposit with the Oregon State Treasury.

X.	 Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that could affect the reported 
amounts of assets and deferred outflow of resources, liabilities and deferred inflow of resources, 
revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS
On June 30, 2024, the majority of WOU’s cash and investments were held in custody with the 
Oregon State Treasury (OST). The OST manages these invested assets through several commingled 
investment pools. The operating funds of WOU are commingled with cash and investments from 
other public universities in Oregon and referred to collectively as the Public University Fund (PUF). 
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The investments held in the PUF are managed by the OST and administered by the statutorily 
defined designated university, currently Oregon State University. WOU is a participant in the PUF 
investment pools along with other public universities from the State. Each underlying investment 
pool has an investment policy and set of objectives identifying risk and return parameters for the 
respective investment pool. The OST invests these deposits in high grade, dollar-denominated, 
short and intermediate-term fixed income securities. The Oregon Investment Council (OIC) provides 
oversight and counsel on the investment policies for each investment pool held in the PUF.

In general, deposits and investment securities as described below are exposed to various risks 
such as credit, concentration of credit, custodial credit, interest rate and foreign currency. Although 
the objective of each investment pool is to preserve capital within defined risk parameters, it is 
likely that the value of the investment securities will fluctuate during short periods of time, and it is 
possible that such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 
For more information on the investment risk exposure, see Note 2.B below.

For full disclosure regarding cash and investments managed by the OST, a copy of the OST audited 
annual financial report may be obtained by writing to the Oregon State Treasury, 350 Winter St, NE, 
Suite 100, Salem, OR 97301-3896 or by linking via the internet at: https://www.oregon.gov/treasury/
news-data/Documents/News-and-Data-Treasury-News-and-Reports/2023/2023_OST_Annual_
Report.

A. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents are classified as current and noncurrent which include both restricted 
and unrestricted cash and are summarized as follows: 

 June 30, 
2024 

Current 
Unrestricted 2,185$         
Unrestricted Cash Reserve 2,018
Debt Service Cash Reserve 918
Restricted For:

Gifts, Grants and Contracts 466               
Student Aid 712
Debt Service 42
Payroll Vendor Payments 2,358
Student Groups and Campus 
     Organizations 138

Quasi-Endowment 141
Petty Cash 14

8,992$         
Noncurrent 
Restricted For:

Title IV Perkins Loan Cash 676$            



2024 Annual Financial Report  •  27

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DEPOSITS WITH OREGON STATE TREASURY

WOU maintains the majority of its cash balances on deposit with OST. These deposits at the OST 
are held, on a pooled basis as described above, in the Oregon Short-Term Fund (OSTF). The OSTF 
is a short-term cash and investment pool available for use by all state agencies or by agreement 
for related state agencies, such as WOU. The OST invests these deposits in high-grade short-term 
investment securities. While WOU is not required by statute to collateralize deposits, WOU has a 
contractual obligation with the OST to collateralize deposits within 24 hours of receipt. At the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2024, WOU cash and cash equivalents on deposit at OST were $8,978.

CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK—DEPOSITS

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a financial institution failure, cash deposits 
will not be returned to a depositor. WOU and the State do not have formal policies regarding 
custodial credit risk for deposits. However, banking regulations and Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 
Chapter 295 establish the insurance and collateral requirements for deposits in the OSTF. WOU 
cash balances held on deposit at the OST are invested continuously, therefore custodial credit risk 
exposure to the OST is low. Additionally, cash balances on deposit with US Bank are collateralized, 
therefore invested continuously, resulting in low custodial credit risk.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK—DEPOSITS

Deposits in foreign currency run the risk of changing value due to fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates. Per PUF policy, all deposits are in U.S. currency and therefore not exposed to foreign currency 
risk. 

OTHER DEPOSITS

For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU had cash at US Bank held for Title IV Perkins Loans of $676. 
Additionally, for the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU had vault and petty cash balances of $14.

A.	 Investments
The majority of WOU’s operating funds are invested in the PUF. WOU investments in the PUF 
are invested in the Core Bond Fund (CBF) managed by the OST. The CBF invests primarily in 
intermediate-term fixed income securities and is managed with an investment objective to 
maximize total return (i.e., principal and income) over an intermediate time horizon within stipulated 
risk parameters. The CBF is actively managed to maintain an average duration of four to five years, 
through a diversified portfolio of quality, investment grade fixed income securities as defined in the 
portfolio guidelines. 

Additionally, board designated quasi-endowment assets are managed separately by the State 
Treasury, invested in mutual and/or index funds, and directed by external investment managers 
who are under contract to the OIC. Per policy, the endowment assets have a medium to long-term 
time horizon. As such, the assets are invested with a medium-term horizon while maintaining a 
prudent level of risk.

All investments are managed as a prudent investor would do, exercising reasonable care, skill, 
and caution. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least 
reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities could occur in the near term 
and such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the Statement of Net Position. 

Significant events in domestic and international investment markets or aggressive action by the 
Federal Open Market Committee to influence both short and long-term interest rates contribute 
to price volatility. Consequently, the fair value of WOU’s investments is exposed to price volatility 
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which could result in a substantial change in the fair value of certain investments from the amounts 
reported as of June 30, 2024.

Investments are all classified as noncurrent and include both restricted and unrestricted funds. On 
June 30, 2024, WOU had a total of $28,574 in investments.

Investments of the Foundation are summarized at fair value as follows:

 

 June 30, 
2024 

Investment Type:
Marketable Securities 29,187$     
Money Market Funds and Cash 308
Certificate of Deposits 102
Cash Value of Life Insurance Policies 58

Total Investments 29,655$     

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the issuer of an investment fails to fulfill its obligations. WOU has an 
investment policy for each segment of its investment portfolio. As of June 30, 2024, approximately 
99.4 percent of investments in the CBF were subject to credit risk reporting. Fixed income securities 
rated by the credit agencies as BBB to AAA, indicating the issuer has a strong capacity to pay 
principal and interest when due, totaled $354,115, or 93.3 percent of the PUF Core Bond Fund. 
Fixed income securities which have not been evaluated by the rating agencies totaled $25,277, or 
6.6 percent of the PUF Core Bond Fund. The PUF Core Bond Fund totaled $381,559, of which WOU 
owned $25,874, or 6.8 percent. As of June 30, 2024, WOU’s endowment assets managed by the State 
Treasury are invested in commingled funds and do not have independently published ratings.

CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty to 
a transaction, WOU will not be able to recover the value of an investment or collateral securities in 
the possession of an outside party. The OIC has no formal policy regarding the holding of securities 
by a custodian or counterparty. For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU’s investments were exposed 
to custodial credit risk indirectly through the OST. On June 30, 2024, none of the investment 
securities were uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the counterparty or by its trust 
department or agent but not in WOU’s name.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Concentration of credit risk refers to potential losses if total investments are concentrated with 
one or few issuers. The PUF policy for reducing this risk for fixed income securities is that, with the 
exception of U.S. Government and Agency issues, no more than five percent of the bond portfolio, 
at par value, will be invested in securities of a single issuer or no more than three percent of the 
individual issue. The PUF held no securities from a single issuer that exceeded five percent of the 
bond portfolio.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk that investments may lose value due to fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates. Per PUF investment policy, all investments are to be in U.S. dollar denominated 
securities, therefore no amounts of the PUF CBF investments had reportable foreign currency risk 
on June 30, 2024. 
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As of June 30, 2024, approximately 20.8 percent or $589 of WOU endowments managed by the State 
Treasury were subject to foreign currency risk.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Investments in fixed income securities are subject to the risk that changes in interest rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of the investments. As of June 30, 2024, securities in the CBF held 
subject to interest rate risk totaling $379,392 had an average duration of 3.8 years. As of June 30, 
2024, WOU quasi-endowments managed through the State Treasury held subject to interest rate 
risk totaling $1,128 had an average duration of 6.6 years. Duration measures the change in the value 
of a fixed income security that will result from a 1% change in interest rates.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Investments are reported at fair value as determined by OST, based on a fair value hierarchy which 
prioritizes the input techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority 
to Level 1 measurements and the lowest priority to Level 3 measurements:

·	 Level 1 – Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;

·	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable for the asset, either directly 
or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active; and 

·	 Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable. These are only used if relevant Level 1 and Level 2 inputs 
are not available.

Inputs are used in applying valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. In addition to the 
underlying reported net asset values (NAV), which generally serve as the primary valuation input, 
other inputs may include liquidity factors and broad credit data. An investment’s level within the 
fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The fair value of WOU’s investments in the PUF is based on the investments’ net asset value (NAV) 
per share provided by the Treasury. Fair value measurements for WOU's investments in the CBF on 
June 30, 2024, totaled $25,874.

WOU’s quasi-endowment assets are based upon the investments’ fair value measurements and are 
as follows:

 June 30, 
2024 

Level 1 1,128$         
Level 2 1,572

Total 2,700$          

B.	Securities Lending
In accordance with the State investment policies, the State participates in securities lending 
transactions. The Treasury has, through a Securities Lending Agreement, authorized State Street 
Bank and Trust Company (State Street) to lend the State’s securities pursuant to a form of loan 
agreement. Both the State and borrowers maintain the right to terminate all securities lending 
transactions on demand. WOU’s cash on deposit with the OST is subject to securities lending. There 
were no significant violations of the provisions of securities lending agreements during the year 
ended June 30, 2024. 
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During the year, State Street had the authority to lend short-term, fixed income, and equity 
securities and receive as collateral U.S. dollar and foreign currency cash, U.S. government and 
agency securities, and foreign sovereign debt of Organization of Economic Cooperation and 
Development countries. Borrowers were required to deliver collateral for each loan equal to not less 
than 102 percent of the market value of the loaned U.S. security. The custodian did not have the 
ability to pledge or sell collateral securities absent a borrower default, and during the year the State 
did impose restrictions on the amount of the loans that the custodian made on its behalf. The OST 
is fully indemnified by the custodian against losses due to borrower default. There were no losses 
during the year from the failure of borrowers to return loaned securities.

State Street, as lending agent, has created a fund to reinvest cash collateral received on behalf of 
the OSTF and Oregon state agencies and related agencies, including WOU. As permitted under the 
fund’s Declaration of Trust (Declaration), participant purchases and redemptions are transacted at 
$1 per unit (“constant value”) based on the amortized cost of the fund’s investments. Accordingly, 
the securities lending collateral held and the obligation to the lending agent are both stated at 
constant value on the statement of net position.

The fair value of investments held by the fund is based upon valuations provided by a recognized 
pricing service. These funds are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but 
the custodial agent is subject to the oversight of the Federal Reserve Board and the Massachusetts 
Commissioner of Banks. No income from the funds was assigned to any other funds.

The maturities of investments made with the cash collateral generally do not match the maturities 
of the securities loaned.  Since the securities loaned are callable on demand by either the lender or 
borrower, the life of the loans on June 30, 2024, is effectively one day. As of June 30, 2024, the State 
had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts owed to borrowers exceeded the 
amounts borrowers owed to the State.

The fair value of WOU’s share of securities lending balances on loan comprised the following:

 June 30, 
2024 

Investment Type
U.S. Treasury and Agency Securities 2,002$         
Domestic Fixed Income Securities 427

Total 2,429$          

The fair value of WOU’s share of total cash and securities collateral received as of June 30, 2024, was 
$2,479. The fair value of WOU’s share of investments purchased with cash collateral as of June 30, 
2024, was $437.
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3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts Receivable comprised the following:

 

 June 30, 
2024 

Student Tuition and Fees 12,535$  
Federal Grants and Contracts 9,520
State Capital Construction Grants 
     and Contracts 2,661      
Auxiliary Enterprises and Other 
     Operating Activities 2,598
State, Other Government, and Private 
     Gifts, Grants and Contracts 3,276
Other 2

30,592

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (8,533)
Accounts Receivable, Net 22,059$  

4. NOTES RECEIVABLE
Student loans made through the Federal Perkins Loan Program are funded through interest 
earnings and repayment of loans. Federal Perkins loans deemed uncollectable are assigned to the 
U.S. Department of Education for collection. WOU has provided an allowance for uncollectable 
loans, which in management’s opinion, will absorb loans that will ultimately be written off.

Institutional and Other Student Loans include loans offered through WOU itself and other various 
forms of non-federal loans programs. Notes Receivable comprised the following:

Current Noncurrent Total

Institutional and Other Student Loans 133$    4$                137$    
Federal Student Loans 114      517              631       

247      521              768       

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (126)     (25)               (151)     
Notes Receivable, Net 121$    496$           617$    

June 30, 2024
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS
The following schedule reflects the changes in capital assets: 

 

 Balance 
June 30, 

2023  Additions 

 Transfer 
Completed 

Assets 

 Retirements 
and 

Adjustments 

 Balance 
June 30, 

2024 

Capital Assets not Being Depreciated:
Land 5,680$         -$           -$            -$                5,680$      
Capitalized Collections 686               -             -               -                  686           
Construction in Progress 2,292           20,805       (1,783)          21,314      

Total Capital Assets not Being Depreciated: 8,658           20,805      (1,783)         -                  27,680      

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Equipment 12,377         959            -               (6)                     13,330      
Library Materials 4,749           15              -               (499)                4,265        
Buildings 203,083       -             1,783          -                  204,866   
Land Improvements 5,429           -             -               -                  5,429        
Improvements Other Than Buildings 3,197            -               -                  3,197        
Infrastructure 7,226           -             -               -                  7,226        
Intangible Assets 1,870           -             -               -                  1,870        

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 237,931       974            1,783          (505)                240,183   

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Equipment (10,580)        (607)           -               6                      (11,181)    
Library Materials (4,507)          (56)             -               499                 (4,064)       
Buildings (93,580)        (5,094)       -               -                  (98,674)    
Land Improvements (4,293)          (207)           -               -                  (4,500)       
Improvements Other Than Buildings (2,582)          (147)           -               -                  (2,729)       
Infrastructure (5,109)          (251)           -               -                  (5,360)       
Intangible Assets (1,870)          -             -               -                  (1,870)       

Total Accumulated Depreciation (122,521)      (6,362)       -               505                 (128,378)  

Net Capital Assets 124,068       15,417      -               -                  139,485   

Right to Use Leased Assets Being Amortized
Gentle House 109               -             -               -                  109           
Equipment 87                 -             -               -                  87             

Total Right to Use Leased Assets Being Amortized 196               -                 -               -                       196           

Less Accumulated Amortization
Gentle House (24)                (9)               -               -                  (33)            
Equipment (13)                (15)             -               -                  (28)            

Total Accumulated Amortization (37)                (24)             -               -                       (61)            

Net Right to Use Leased Assets 159               (24)             -               -                  135           
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 Balance 
June 30, 

2023  Additions 

 Transfer 
Completed 

Assets 

 Retirements 
and 

Adjustments 

 Balance 
June 30, 

2024 
Right to Use Subscription IT Assets Being Amortized 1,102           1,358         -               -                  2,460        
Less Accumulated Amortization (405)             (834)           -               -                  (1,239)       

Net Right to Use Subscription IT Assets 697               524            -               -                  1,221        

Total Net Capital Assets 124,924$     15,917$    -$            -$                140,841$ 

6. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES June 30, 
2024

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension

Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 5,538$      
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience 2,077        
Changes in Assumptions 3,773        
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Investments 763           
Changes in Proportion and Differences between Fund Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 4,655        

OPEB
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Investments 9                
Changes in Assumptions 21              
Changes in Proportion and Differences between Fund Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 17              

Total Deferred Outflows 16,853$    
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Pension
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience 168$         
Changes in Assumptions 28              
Changes in Proportion and Differences between Fund Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 3,162        

OPEB
Changes in Proportion and Differences between Fund Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 3                
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience 296           
Changes in Assumptions 401           

Total Deferred Inflows 4,058$      

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities comprised the following:

 June 30, 
2024 

Services and Supplies 5,568$   
Payroll and Related 4,660      
Accrued Interest 760         
Perkins FCC Payable 267         
Contract Retainage 902         

12,157$ 
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8. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term liability activity was as follows:

 Balance 
July 1, 
2023  Additions Reductions

 Balance 
June 30, 

2024 

 Amount 
Due Within 
One Year 

Long-Term 
Portion

Long-Term Debt
Due to the State of Oregon:

Contracts Payable 40,325$  -$                  (2,754)$         37,571$  2,831$          $      34,740 
Oregon Department of Energy Loans (SELP) 2,550       -                    (299)               2,251       309                           1,942 

Total Long-Term Debt 42,875    -                    (3,053)           39,822    3,140           36,682         
Other Noncurrent Liabilities

PERS pre-SLGRP Pooled Liability 1,859       -                    (426)               1,433       375                           1,058 
Compensated Absences 2,651       34                 -                     2,685       2,429                          256 
Right to Use Assets Liabilities 152          -                    (22)                 130          22                                108 
Subscription IT Assets Liabilities 665          1,358           (854)               1,169       520                              649 

Total Other Noncurrent Liabilities 5,327       1,392           (1,302)           5,417       3,346           2,071           
Total Long-Term Liabilities 48,202$  1,392$         (4,355)$         45,239$  6,486$         38,753$       

The schedule of principal and interest payments for long-term debt is as follows:

For the Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2025 2,831$         1,414$                309$          88$           3,140$         1,502$         
2026 2,950 1,317 322 75 3,272           1,392           
2027 3,025 1,215 336 61 3,361           1,276           
2028 2,896 1,112 351 47 3,247           1,159           
2029 2,750 1,010 366 32 3,116           1,042           
2030-2034 11,628 3,702 567 20 12,195         3,722           
2035-2039 9,478 1,536 -             -            9,478           1,536           
2040-2042 2,013 62 -             -            2,013           62                 

37,571$       11,368$             2,251$       323$         39,822$       11,691$       

 Contracts Payable  SELP  Total 

 

The schedule of principal and interest payments for right to use asset liabilities is as follows:

For the Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2025 8$                 2$                       14$            1$             22$               3$                 
2026 9 1 14 1 23                 2                   
2027 9 1 14 1 23                 2                   
2028 9 1 15 1 24                 2                   
2029 9 1 -             -            9                   1                   
2030-2034 29 1 -             -            29                 1                   

73$               7$                       57$            4$             130$            11$               

 Gentle House  Equipment  Total 
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The schedule of principal and interest payments for subscription IT asset liabilities is as follows:

For the Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest
2025 520$            21$                     
2026 280               14                       
2027 188               7                          
2028 181               4                          

1,169$         46$                      

A.	Contracts Payable
WOU has entered into loan agreements with the State for repayment of bonds issued by the State 
on behalf of WOU for capital construction and refunding of previously issued debt. WOU makes 
loan payments (principal and interest) to the State in accordance with the loan agreements. Loans, 
with effective yields ranging from 0.1 percent to 5.4 percent, are due serially through 2042. The 
State may periodically issue new debt to refund previously held debt. Per the contract, when this 
happens, the State is required to pass the savings on to WOU.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the State did not issue any bonds which resulted in 
neither an increase or decrease to WOU’s contracts payable. 

B.	Oregon Department of Energy Loans
WOU has entered into loan agreements with the State Department of Energy (DOE) Small-Scale 
Energy Loan Program (SELP) for energy conservation projects at WOU. WOU makes monthly loan 
payments (principal and interest) to the DOE in accordance with the loan agreements. SELP loans, 
with interest rates ranging from 4.12 percent to 4.44 percent, are due through 2031.

C. State and Local Government Rate Pool
Prior to the formation of the PERS State and Local Government Rate Pool (SLGRP), the State and 
community colleges were pooled together in the State and community college pool (SCCP), and 
local government employers participated in the Local Government Rate Pool (LGRP). These two 
pools combined to form the SLGRP effective January 1, 2002, at which time a transitional, pre-SLGRP 
liability was created. The pre-SLGRP liability is essentially a debt owed to the SLGRP by the SCCP 
employers. The balance of the pre-SLGRP pooled liability attributable to the State is being amortized 
over the period ending December 31, 2027. The liability is allocated by the State, based on salaries 
and wages, to all public universities, State proprietary funds and the government-wide reporting 
fund in the State's annual comprehensive financial report. Interest expense were paid by WOU in 
the amount of $101 for June 30, 2024. Principal payments of $426 were applied to the liability for 
June 30, 2024. 

D.	Right to Use Assets Liabilities 
Gentle House

WOU entered a triple net lease agreement to lease Gentle House for hosting campus events which 
furthers WOU’s commitment to education and support of our students. The lease began August 
2020 and terminates January 2033. WOU used an incremental discount rate of 2.12 percent, based 
on the true interest cost for its most recent debt issuance for the same time periods. During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded $2 in interest expense for the right to use the space.
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Equipment

WOU entered into a lease agreement for equipment in August 2022 and terminates August 2028. 
WOU used an incremental discount rate of 2.12 percent, based on the true interest cost for its most 
recent debt issuance for the same time periods. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, WOU 
recorded $1 in interest expense for the right to use the equipment.

E. Subscription IT Asset Liabilities
WOU has entered into eleven SBITA contracts for educational outcomes, enrollment management, 
residential management, employee development and Ellucian. WOU is required to make principal 
and interest payments through June 2028. WOU used an incremental discount rate of 2.12 percent, 
based on the true interest cost for its most recent debt issuance for the same time periods. During 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded $11 in interest expense for subscriptions IT asset 
liabilities.

F.	 Revolving Line of Credit
WOU has an unused $5,000 line of credit payable from all legally available WOU revenues, including 
tuition, fees, charges, rents, and other income to the extent they are not restricted in their use by 
law. The rate is fixed at 2.68 percent. The line of credit matures on December 31, 2024, and may be 
extended for one two-year period. In the event of default, the financial institution may exercise all 
rights, powers, and remedies as allowed by law. 

9. 	INVESTMENT ACTIVITY
Investment Activity details is as follows:

June 30, 
2024

Investment Earnings 2,329$      
Net Appreciation (Depreciation) of Investments 1,002        
Royalties and Technology Transfer Income 12             
Interest Income 19             
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Investment (830)          

Total Investment Activity 2,532$       
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10.  OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURAL CLASSIFICATION
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position reports operating expenses by 
their functional classification. The following displays operating expenses by both the functional and 
natural classifications. The reporting of the net pension liability and OPEB assets and liabilities, as 
required by GASB Statement Nos. 68, 71 and 75, affects the reported compensation and benefit 
expenses of WOU.

June 30, 2024
Compensation 
and Benefits

Services and 
Supplies

Scholarships 
and Fellowships

Depreciation and 
Amortization Other Total

Instruction 30,067$             2,369$           309$                      -$                            -$            32,745$   
Research 664                    103                 96                          -                              3             866           
Public Services 6,281                 5,028              108                        -                              3             11,420      
Academic Support 7,541                 2,075              1                             -                              -              9,617        
Student Services 7,911                 1,139              69                          -                              24           9,143        
Auxiliary Services 11,059               10,855           679                        1,898                      -              24,491      
Institutional Support 8,498                 1,733              -                              -                              -              10,231      
Operation & Maint. of Plant 4,934                 461                 -                              -                              -              5,395        
Student Aid -                          -                      8,746                     -                              263         9,009        
Other 983                    662                 56                          5,322                      -              7,023        

Total 77,938$             24,425$         10,064$                7,220$                   293$       119,940$  

11. 	GOVERNMENT APPROPRIATIONS
WOU receives support from the State in the form of general fund and lottery appropriations. 
These appropriations are in support of the operations of WOU and debt service of SELP loans. 
Appropriations for SELP debt service are based on the loan agreements between WOU and the 
Oregon Department of Energy. Government appropriations comprised the following:

June 30,
2024

General Fund - Operations 33,368$    
Lottery Funding 1,587         
Sustainability Funding 1,022         

Government Appropriations 35,977       
General Fund - SELP Debt Service 379            

Total State Appropriations 36,356$     

12.  EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS
WOU offers various retirement plans to qualified employees as described below.

A.	PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT PLAN (PERS)
Organization

WOU participates with other state agencies in the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
(System), which is a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit plan. Plan assets may be used to 
pay the benefits of the employees of any employer that provides pensions through the plan. PERS 
is administered in accordance with Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 238, Chapter 238A, and 
Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a). The Oregon Legislature has delegated authority to the Public 
Employees Retirement Board (PERS Board) to administer and manage the System. All members of 
the Board are appointed by the governor and confirmed by the senate.
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Plan Membership

The 1995 Oregon Legislature enacted Chapter 654, Section 3, Oregon Laws 1995, which has 
been codified into ORS 238.435. This legislation created a second tier of benefits for those who 
established membership on or after January 1, 1996. Membership prior to January 1, 1996 are Tier 
One members. The second tier does not have the Tier One assumed earnings rate guarantee and 
has a higher normal retirement age of 60, compared to 58 for Tier One. Both Tier One and Tier Two 
are defined benefit plans. 

The 2003 Legislature enacted House Bill (HB) 2020, codified as ORS 238A, which created the Oregon 
Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP). OPSRP consists of the Pension Program defined benefit 
(DB) program and the Individual Account Program (IAP). The IAP is a defined contribution plan. 
Membership includes public employees hired on or after August 29, 2003.

Beginning January 1, 2004, PERS active Tier One and Tier Two members became members of 
IAP of OPSRP. PERS members retain their existing Defined Benefit Plan accounts, but member 
contributions are now deposited into the member’s IAP account, not into the member’s Defined 
Benefit Plan account. Accounts are credited with earnings and losses, net of administrative 
expenses. OPSRP is part of PERS and is administered by the PERS Board.

Pension Plan Report

The PERS defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans are reported as pension trust 
funds in the fiduciary funds combining statements and as part of the Pension and Other Employee 
Benefit Trust in the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. PERS issues a separate, publicly 
available financial report that includes an audit opinion that may be obtained by writing to the 
Public Employees Retirement System, Fiscal Services Division, PO Box 23700, Tigard, OR 97281-3700. 
The report may also be accessed online.

Basis of Accounting

Contributions for employers are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting. Employer 
contributions to PERS are calculated based on creditable compensation for active members 
reported by employers. Employer contributions are accrued when due pursuant to legal 
requirements. These are amounts normally included in the employer statements cut off as of the 
fifth of the following month.

Proportionate Share Allocation Methodology

The basis for the employer’s proportion is actuarially determined by comparing the employer’s 
projected long-term contribution effort to the Plan with the total projected long-term contribution 
effort of all employers. The contribution rate for every employer has at least two major 
components; Normal Cost Rate and Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) Rate.

Pension Plan Liability

The components of the Plan’s collective net pension liability as of the measurement dates of June 
30, 2023 are as follows (dollars in millions):

 

June 30, 2023
Total Pension Liability 102,218$              
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 83,488                  
Plan Net Pension Liability 18,730$                
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Changes Subsequent to the Measurement Date

WOU is not aware of any changes to benefit terms subsequent to the June 30, 2023, measurement 
date.

OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) PENSION (CHAPTER 238) 
PROGRAM

Pension Benefits

The PERS retirement allowance is payable monthly for life. There are 13 retirement benefit options 
a retiring employee may select from. These options include survivorship benefits and lump-sum 
refunds. The basic benefit is based on years of service and final average salary. A percentage (1.67 
percent for general service employees) is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final 
average salary. Benefits may also be calculated under either a formula plus annuity (for members 
who were contributing before August 21, 1981) or a money match computation if a greater benefit 
results. Monthly payments must be a minimum of $200 per month or the member will receive a 
lump-sum payment of the actuarial equivalence of benefits to which he or she is entitled. 

A member is considered vested and will be eligible at minimum retirement age for a service 
retirement allowance if he or she has had a contribution in each of five calendar years or has 
reached at least 50 years of age before ceasing employment with a participating employer. General 
Service employees may retire after reaching age 55. Tier One general service employee benefits are 
reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 58 with fewer than 30 years of service. Tier Two members 
are eligible for full benefits at age 60. The ORS Chapter 238 Defined Benefit Pension Plan is closed to 
new members hired on or after August 29, 2003.

Death Benefits

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the 
member’s account balance (accumulated contributions and interest). In addition, the beneficiary will 
receive a lump-sum payment from employer funds equal to the account balance provided one or 
more of the following conditions are met:

·	 The member was employed by a PERS employer at the time of death.
·	 The member died within 120 days after termination of PERS-covered employment.
·	 The member died as a result of injury sustained while employed in a PERS-covered job.
·	 The member was on an official leave of absence from a PERS-covered job at the time of death.

Disability Benefits

A member with 10 or more years of creditable service who becomes disabled from other than duty-
connected cause may receive a non-duty disability benefit. A disability resulting from a job-incurred 
injury or illness qualifies a member for disability benefits regardless of the length of PERS-covered 
service. Upon qualifying for either a non-duty or duty disability, service time is computed to age 58 
when determining the monthly benefit.

Benefit Changes After Retirement

Members may choose to continue participation in a variable equities investment account after 
retiring and may experience annual benefit fluctuations due to changes in the market value of 
equity investments.

Under ORS 238.360 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through cost-of-living adjustments 
(COLAs). The COLA is capped at 2.0 percent.
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OREGON PUBLIC SERVICE RETIREMENT PLAN (OPSRP DB) PENSION PROGRAM 

Pension Benefits

This portion of OPSRP provides a life pension funded by employer contributions. Benefits are 
calculated with the following formula for members who attain normal retirement age: 1.5 percent is 
multiplied by the number of years of service and the final average salary. Normal retirement age for 
general service members is age 65, or age 58 with 30 years of retirement credit.

A member of the pension program becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the date 
the member completes 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years, the date the member 
reaches normal retirement age, and if the pension program is terminated, the date on which 
termination becomes effective.

Death Benefits

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the spouse or other person who is constitutionally 
required to be treated in the same manner as the spouse, receives for life 50 percent of the pension 
that would otherwise have been paid to the deceased member.

Disability Benefits

A member who has accrued 10 or more years of retirement credits before the member becomes 
disabled or a member who becomes disabled due to job-related injury shall receive a disability 
benefit of 45 percent of the member’s salary determined as of the last full month of employment 
before the disability occurred.

Benefit Changes After Retirement

Under ORS 238A.210 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through COLAs. The cap on the COLA 
varies based on 1.25 percent on the first $60 of annual benefit and 0.15 percent on annual benefits 
above $60.

OREGON PUBLIC SERVICE RETIREMENT PLAN (OPSRP IAP) PENSION PROGRAM 

Benefit Terms

The IAP is an individual account-based program under the PERS tax-qualified governmental plan as 
defined under ORS 238A.400. An IAP member becomes vested on the date the employee account 
is established or on the date the rollover account was established. If the employer makes optional 
employer contributions for a member, the member becomes vested on the earliest of the following 
dates: the date the member completes 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years, the date 
the member reaches normal retirement age, the date the IAP is terminated, the date the active 
member becomes disabled, or the date the active member dies. The accounts fall under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 401(a). 

Upon retirement, a member of the IAP may receive the amounts in his or her employee account, 
rollover account, and vested employer account as a lump-sum payment or in equal installments 
over a 5-, 10-, 15-, 20-year period or an anticipated life span option. Installment amounts vary with 
market returns as the account remains invested while in distribution. When chosen, the distribution 
option must result in a $200 minimum distribution amount, or the frequency of the installments will 
be adjusted to reach that minimum.

Death Benefits

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives in a lump sum the member’s 
account balance, rollover account balance, and vested employer optional contribution account 
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balance. If a retired member dies before the installment payments are completed, the beneficiary 
may receive the remaining installment payments or choose a lump-sum payment.

PENSION PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS

PERS and OPSRP employee contribution requirements are established by IRS 238.200 and ORS 
238A.330, respectively, and are credited to an employee’s account in the Individual Account 
Program and may be amended by an act of the Oregon Legislature. PERS funding policy provides for 
monthly employer contributions at actuarially determined rates. These contributions, expressed as 
a percentage of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due. This funding policy applies to the PERS Defined Benefit Plan and the Other Postemployment 
Benefit Plans.

Employer contributions rates for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, were based on the December 31, 
2022, actuarial valuation. The employer contribution rates for the PERS and OPSRP are as follows:

PERS Tiers One/Two 22.91%
OPSRP 18.28%  

NET PENSION LIABILITY

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported a liability of $42,472 for its proportionate share of the PERS net 
pension liability. The net pension liability as of June 30, 2024, was measured as of June 30, 2023, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2022. The PERS system does not provide WOU an audited 
proportionate share as a separate employer; WOU is a proportionate share of PERS employer 
state agencies which includes all state agencies. The State Department of Administrative Services 
calculated WOU’s proportional share of all state agencies internally based on actual contributions 
by WOU as compared to the total for employer state agencies. The State Audits Division performed 
a review of this internal calculation. On June 30, 2024, WOU’s proportion was 0.23 percent of the 
statewide pension plan, and 0.76 percent of employer state agencies. This was a change from the 
June 30, 2023 proportions of 0.21 percent for the statewide pension plan, and 0.71 percent for 
employer state agencies.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded total pension expense (expense offset) of $2,231, 
due to the changes in net pension liability, deferred inflows, and deferred outflows. 

Deferred Items

Deferred items are calculated at the system-wide level and are allocated to employers based on 
their proportionate share. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, deferred items include:

·	 Difference between expected and actual experience
·	 Changes in assumptions
·	 Net difference between projected and actual pension plan investment earnings 
·	 Changes in employer proportion since the prior measurement date

Differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumption, and changes in 
employer proportion are amortized over the average remaining service lives of all plan participants, 
including retirees, determined as of the beginning of the respective measurement period. 
Employers are required to recognize pension expense based on the balance of the closed period 
“layers” attributable to each measurement period. The average remaining service lives determined 
as of the beginning of each measurement period for the measurement period ended June 30, 2023 
was 5.4 years. 
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The difference between projected and actual pension plan investment earnings attributable to each 
measurement period is amortized over a closed five-year period.

One year of amortization is recognized in WOU’s total pension expense for fiscal year 2024.

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources:

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources
Differences between expected and 
     actual experience 2,077$                  168$               
Changes of assumptions 3,773                     28                    
Net difference between projected and 
     actual earnings on pension plan 
     investments 763                        -                       
Change in proportional share and
     differences between System's 
     contributions and proportionate 
     share of contributions 4,655                     3,162              
Total 11,268$                3,358$            
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources before Contributions 
     Subsequent to the Measurement 
     Date (MD) 7,910$                  
Contributions Subsequent to the MD 5,538                     
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources after Contributions 
     Subsequent to the MD 13,448$                

Of the amount reported as deferred outflows of resources, $5,538 are related to pensions resulting 
from WOU contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2025.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows or inflows of resources related to pension will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows:

 

Fund subsequent fiscal years

 Deferred 
Outflow/(Inflow) of 
Resources (prior 

to post-MD 
contributions) 

1st Fiscal Year 1,488$                  
2nd Fiscal Year (558)
3rd Fiscal Year 4,812
4th Fiscal Year 1,901
5th Fiscal Year 267

7,910$                  
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of projected benefits and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future. Experience studies are performed as of December 31 of even numbered 
years.

The following methods and assumptions were used in the development of the total pension liability:

Valuation Date December 31, 2021
Measurement Date June 30, 2023
Experience Study Report 2020, published July 20, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Inflation Rate 2.40 percent
Long-Term Expected Rate of 
Return 6.90 percent

Discount Rate 6.90 percent
Projected Salary Increases 3.40 percent 
Cost of Living Adjustments 
(COLA)

Blend of 2.00% COLA and graded COLA (1.25%/0.15%) in 
accordance with Moro  decision; blend based on service
Healthy retirees and beneficiaries:
Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, 
Social Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and 
set-backs as described in the valuation.
Active members:
Pub-2010 Employee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, 
Social Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and 
set-backs as described in the valuation.
Disabled retirees: 
Pub-2010 Disabled Retiree, sex distinct, generational with 
Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category 
adjustments and set-backs as described in the valuation.

Actuarial Methods

Actuarial Assumptions

Mortality

 

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability on June 30, 2024, was 6.90 percent. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan 
members and those of the contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, as 
actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis shows the sensitivity of WOU’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents WOU’s proportionate share of the 
net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.90 percent as of June 30, 2024, as well 
as what WOU’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current 
rate:

 

1% Decrease
5.90%

Current Discount Rate
6.90%

1% Increase
7.90%

June 30, 2024

70,155$                   

42,472                     

19,304                     

Depletion Date Projection

GASB Statement No. 68 generally requires that a blended discount rate be used to measure the 
Total Pension Liability (the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated using the Individual Entry Age 
Normal Cost Method). The long-term expected return on plan investments may be used to discount 
liabilities to the extent that the Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position (fair market value of assets) is projected 
to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. A 20-year high quality (AA/Aa or higher) 
municipal bond rate must be used for periods where the Fiduciary Net Position is not projected to 
cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. Determining the discount rate under GASB 
Statement No. 68 will often require that the actuary perform complex projections of future benefit 
payments and pension plan investments. GASB Statement No. 68 (paragraph 67) does allow for 
alternative evaluations of projected solvency, if such an evaluation can reliably be made. GASB does 
not contemplate a specific method for making an alternative evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to 
professional judgment. 

The following circumstances justify an alternative evaluation of sufficiency for Oregon PERS: 

·	 Oregon PERS has a formal written policy to calculate an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), 
which is articulated in the actuarial valuation report. 

·	 The ADC is based on a closed, layered amortization period, which means that payment of the full 
ADC each year will bring the plan to a 100% funded position by the end of the amortization period 
if future experience follows assumption. 

·	 GASB Statement No. 68 specifies that the projections regarding future solvency assume that plan 
assets earn the assumed rate of return and there are no future changes in the plan provisions 
or actuarial methods and assumptions, which means that the projections would not reflect any 
adverse future experience, which might impact the plan’s funded position. 

Based on these circumstances, it is the independent actuary’s opinion that the detailed depletion 
date projections outlined in GASB Statement No. 68 would clearly indicate that the Fiduciary Net 
Position is always projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses.
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Assumed Asset Allocation as of June 30, 2023

 

Asset Class/ Strategy Actual
Debt Securities 20.00% 30.00% 25.00% 20.00%
Public Equity 22.50                     32.50              27.50                  23.30    
Real Estate 9.00                       16.50              12.50                  13.60    
Private Equity 17.50                     27.50              20.00                  26.50    
Real Assets 2.50                       10.00              7.50                    9.10      
Diversifying Strategies 2.50                       10.00              7.50                    5.00      
Opportunity Portfolio -                         5.00                 -                      2.50      
Total 100.00% 100.00%

High Range OIC TargetLow Range

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, 
in June 2021, the PERS Board reviewed long-term assumptions developed by both Milliman’s capital 
market assumptions team and the Oregon Investment Council’s (OIC) investment advisors. Each 
asset assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes adjustment 
for the inflation assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead 
are based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. The table on the following page 
shows a summary of the long-term expected rate of return by asset class. For more information on 
the Plan’s portfolio, assumed asset allocation, and the long-term expected rate of return for each 
major asset class, calculated using both arithmetic and geometric means, see PERS’ audited financial 
statements – available online.

The following table shows the long-term expected rate of return by asset class as of June 30, 2024:

 

Asset Class

Global Equity
Private Equity 25.50
Core Fixed Income 25.00
Real Estate 12.25
Master Limited Partnerships 0.75
Infrastructure 1.50
Hedge Fund of Funds - Multistrategy 1.25
Hedge Fund Equity - Hedge 0.63
Hedge Fund - Macros 5.62

Assumed Inflation – Mean 1.41%

7.07%
12.89 8.83
4.59 4.50
6.90 5.83
9.41 6.02
7.88 6.51

2.35%

27.04
17.11
9.04

12.04
7.49

Annual Standard 
Deviation

17.99%
30.00
4.22

15.13

Target Allocation Annual Arithmetic Return 20-Year Annualized 
Geometric Mean

6.81 6.27
7.39 6.48
5.44 4.83

27.50% 8.57%

Negative allocation to cash represents levered exposure from allocation to Risk Parity strategy.

BOND DEBT

The retirement bond debt service assessment was authorized by the Oregon Legislature in 2003 to 
sell general obligation bonds in the amount of $2 billion to pay a PERS unfunded actuarial liability. 
This action reduced the PERS contribution rate for PERS covered employers in the State actuarial 
pool in November 2003.

The Oregon Department of Administrative Services coordinates the debt service assessments 
to PERS employers to cover the bond debt service payments. PERS employers are assessed 
a percentage of PERS-subject payroll to fund the payments. The assessment rate is adjusted 
periodically over the life of the twenty-four-year debt repayment schedule.

The payroll assessment for the pension obligation bond began in May 2004. The assessment rate 
for fiscal year 2024 was 5.6 percent. Payroll assessments for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, was 
$1,627.
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B.	OTHER RETIREMENT PLANS
OPTIONAL RETIREMENT PLAN	

The 1995, Oregon Legislature enacted legislation that authorized WOU to offer a defined 
contribution retirement plan as an alternative to PERS. A Retirement Plan Committee was appointed 
to administer the Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) and named trustees to manage plan assets placed 
with mutual funds and insurance companies. Beginning April 1, 1996, the ORP was made available 
to WOU academic and administrative faculty. Employees choosing the ORP may invest the employee 
and employer contributions in one of two investment companies, either Fidelity or the Teacher’s 
Insurance and Annuity Association (TIAA).

The ORP consists of four tiers. Membership under ORP Tier One and Tier Two is determined using 
the same date of entry criteria as PERS. The third tier is determined by the date of entry applicable 
to the OPSRP. Employees hired on or after July 1, 2014, who elected the ORP are Tier Four members. 
The first contributions for Tier Four were payable in January 2015 after six-months of qualifying 
service. Tier Four is a departure from the other three tiers. The employee is entitled to an employer 
contribution plus a “match” contribution based on the employee’s participation in the voluntary 
403(b) investment plan. The employer contribution is fixed at 8 percent by plan rules and is 
unaffected by PERS rates, unlike the other tiers. The employer provides an ORP match contribution 
equal to 403(b) deferrals up to a 4 percent maximum. Under the ORP Tiers One, Two and Three, the 
employee’s contribution rate is 6 percent and is paid for by the employer. 

The employer contribution rates for the ORP are as follows:

 

2024
Tiers One/Two 26.68%
Tier Three 10.93%
Tier Four 8.00%

OREGON PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES 401(A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Eligible ranked faculty participate in the TIAA retirement program, a defined contribution plan, 
on all salary in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars per calendar year. Employee and employer 
contributions are directed to PERS on the first forty-eight hundred dollars. The contribution to TIAA 
annuities is supplemental to PERS. To participate in this retirement option, employees must have 
been hired on or before September 9, 1995. This plan was closed to new enrollment at the time 
the ORP started in 1996. The legacy plan, Oregon University System 401(a) Defined Contribution 
Plan, document was amended and restated July 1, 2015, and the plan sponsor is now the Board of 
Trustees for the University of Oregon.

SUMMARY OF OTHER PENSION PAYMENTS

WOU’s total payroll for the year ended June 30, 2024, was $42,717 of which $9,596 was subject to 
defined contribution retirement plan contributions. 
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The following schedule lists payments made by WOU for the fiscal year:

 

 Employer 
Contribution 

As a % of 
Covered 
Payroll

 Employee 
Contribution 

 As a % of 
Covered 
Payroll 

ORP 1,218$                  12.70% 782$              8.14%
Total 1,218$                  12.70% 782$              8.14%

June 30, 2024

Of the employee share, WOU paid $782 of the ORP employee contribution amounts on behalf of 
their employees during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

13. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)
PLAN DESCRIPTIONS

The Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) Board contracts for health insurance coverage on 
behalf of eligible PERS members. Eligible retirees pay their own age-adjusted premiums. To help 
retirees defray the cost of these premiums, PERS also administers two separate defined benefit 
other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans: the Retirement Health Insurance Account (RHIA) and 
the Retiree Health Insurance Premium Account (RHIPA). Only Tier One and Tier Two PERS members 
are eligible to participate in the RHIA and RHIPA plans. (Refer to Note 12 for details concerning Tier 
One and Tier Two membership in PERS.)

The RHIA is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan in which WOU participates. 
Established under Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 238.420, the plan provides a payment of up to $60 
toward the monthly cost of health insurance for eligible PERS members. To be eligible to receive 
the RHIA subsidy, the member must (1) have eight years or more of qualifying service in PERS at 
the time of retirement or receive a disability allowance as if the member had eight years or more 
of creditable service in PERS, (2) receive both Medicare parts A and B coverage, and (3) enroll in 
a PERS-sponsored health plan. A surviving spouse or dependent of a deceased PERS retiree who 
was eligible to receive the subsidy is eligible to receive the subsidy if he or she (1) is receiving a 
retirement benefit or allowance from PERS or (2) was insured at the time the member died and 
the member retired before May 1, 1991. The Legislature has sole authority to amend the benefit 
provisions and employer obligations for the RHIA plan. 

Established under ORS 238.415, the RHIPA is considered a single-employer defined benefit OPEB 
plan for financial reporting purposes. The plan provides payment of the average difference between 
the health insurance premiums paid by retired state employees under contracts entered into by 
the PERS Board and health insurance premiums paid by state employees who are not retired. PERS 
members are qualified to receive the RHIPA subsidy if they have eight or more years of qualifying 
service in PERS at the time of retirement or receive a disability pension calculated as if they had 
eight or more years of qualifying service but are not eligible for Federal Medicare coverage. A 
surviving spouse or dependent of a deceased retired state employee is eligible to receive the 
subsidy if he or she (1) is receiving a retirement benefit or allowance from PERS or (2) was insured at 
the time the member died and the member retired on or after September 29, 1991. The Legislature 
has sole authority to amend the benefit provisions and employer obligations of the RHIPA plan. 

Both RHIA and RHIPA are closed to employees hired on or after August 29, 2003, who had not 
established PERS membership prior to that date.
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OPEB PLANS REPORT

The PERS RHIA and RHIPA defined benefit OPEB plans are reported separately under Other 
Employee Benefit Trust Funds in the fiduciary funds combining statements and as part of the 
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
PERS issues a separate, publicly available financial report that includes audited financial statements 
and required supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing to the Public 
Employees Retirement System, Fiscal Services Division, PO Box 23700, Tigard, OR 97281-3700. The 
report may also be accessed online. 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements for the PERS OPEB plans are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Benefits 
are recognized in the month they are earned, and withdrawals are recognized in the month they are 
due and payable. Plan investments are reported at fair value.

PROPORTIONATE SHARE ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY

The basis for the employer’s proportion is determined by comparing the employer’s actual, legally 
required contributions made during the fiscal year to the Plan with the total actual contributions 
made in the fiscal year of all employers.

OPEB PLAN (ASSET)/LIABILITY

The components of the collective Net OPEB liability (asset) for the OPEB plans as of the 
measurement date of June 30, 2023, are as follows (in millions):

 

Net OPEB - RHIA (Asset)
June 30, 

2024
Total OPEB - RHIA Liability 360$              
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 727                 
Plan Net OPEB - RHIA (Asset) (367)$             

Net OPEB - RHIPA Liability (Asset)
 June 30, 

2024 
Total OPEB - RHIPA Liability 47$                 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 91                   
Plan Net OPEB - RHIPA Liability (Asset) (44)$               

CHANGES SUBSEQUENT TO THE MEASUREMENT DATE

WOU is not aware of any changes to benefit terms subsequent to the June 30, 2023, measurement 
date.

CONTRIBUTIONS

Both of the OPEB plans administered by PERS are funded through actuarially determined employer 
contributions. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, WOU required no contributions for PERS-covered payroll of 
Tier One and Tier Two plan members to fund the normal cost portion of RHIA benefits. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, WOU required no contributions for PERS-covered payroll of 
Tier One and Tier Two plan members to fund the normal cost portion of RHIPA benefits. 
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NET OPEB ASSET – PERS RHIA

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported an asset of $783 for its proportionate share of the PERS RHIA net 
OPEB asset. The net OPEB asset as of June 30, 2024, was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total 
OPEB asset used to calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2021. The PERS system does not provide WOU with an audited proportionate share as 
a separate employer; WOU is allocated a proportionate share of PERS employer state agencies. The 
State Department of Administrative Services (DAS) calculated WOU’s proportionate share of all state 
agencies internally based on actual contributions by WOU as compared to the total for employer 
state agencies. The Oregon Audits Division reviewed this internal calculation. On June 30, 2024, 
WOU’s proportion was 0.21 percent of the statewide OPEB plan and 0.62 percent of employer state 
agencies. On June 30, 2023, WOU’s proportion was 0.22 percent of the statewide OPEB plan and 
0.65 percent of employer state agencies. 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded total OPEB expense (expense offset) of $(100) to 
changes in the net PERS RHIA OPEB asset, deferred outflows and deferred inflows and amortization 
of previously deferred amounts.

NET OPEB ASSET – PERS RHIPA

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported an asset of $301 for its proportionate share of the PERS RHIPA net 
OPEB asset. The net OPEB asset as of June 30, 2024, was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total 
OPEB asset used to calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2021. The PERS system does not provide WOU with an audited proportionate share as 
a separate employer; WOU is allocated a proportionate share of PERS employer state agencies. DAS 
calculated WOU’s proportionate share of all state agencies internally based on actual contributions 
by WOU as compared to the total for employer state agencies. The Oregon Audits Division reviewed 
this internal calculation. On June 30, 2024 and 2023, WOU’s proportion was 0.68 percent of the 
statewide OPEB plan. 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded total OPEB expense (expense offset) of ($48) 
due to changes in the net PERS RHIPA OPEB asset, deferred outflows and deferred inflows and 
amortization of previously deferred amounts.

DEFERRED ITEMS - RHIA

Deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources are calculated at the system-wide 
level and are allocated to employers based on their proportionate share. For the measurement 
period ended June 30, 2024, deferred items included:

·	 Difference between expected and actual experience
·	 Difference due to changes in assumptions
·	 Changes in employer proportion since the prior measurement date
·	 Net difference between projected and actual investment earnings

Differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumption, and changes in 
employer proportion are amortized over the average remaining service lives of all plan participants, 
including retirees, determined as of the beginning of the respective measurement period. 
Employers are required to recognize OPEB expense based on the balance of the closed period 
“layers” attributable to each measurement period. The average remaining service lives determined 
as of the beginning of each measurement period for the measurement period ending June 30, 2023 
was 2.3 years.

The difference between projected and actual OPEB plan investment earnings attributable to each 
measurement period is amortized over a closed five-year period. 
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One year of amortization is recognized in WOU’s total OPEB expense for the measurement period. 

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to RHIA OPEB from the following sources (in thousands):

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources
Differences between expected and 
     actual experience -$                    20$                  
Changes in assumptions -                      8                      
Net difference between projected and 
     actual earnings on OPEB plan 
     investments 2                     -                       
Change in Proportionate Share 17                   3                      
Total 19$                 31$                  
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources before Contributions 
     Subsequent to the Measurement 
     Date (MD) (12)$               
Contributions Subsequent to the MD -                  
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources after Contributions 
     Subsequent to the MD (12)$                

Of the amount reported as deferred outflows of resources, $0 is related to contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date. 

As of June 30, 2024, other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to RHIA OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows (in thousands):

1st Fiscal Year (21)$               
2nd Fiscal Year (30)
3rd Fiscal Year 29
4th Fiscal Year 10

(12)$               

Deferred Outflow/ (Inflow) of Resources

 

DEFERRED ITEMS - RHIPA

Deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources are calculated at the system-wide 
level and are allocated to employers based on their proportionate share. For the measurement 
period ended June 30, 2023, deferred items included:

·	 Difference due to changes in assumptions
·	 Changes between expected and actual experience 
·	 Changes in employer proportion since the prior measurement date
·	 Difference between employer contributions and proportionate share of contributions
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Differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumption, and change in 
employer proportion are amortized over the average remaining service lives of all plan participants, 
including retirees, determined as of the beginning of the respective measurement period. 
Employers are required to recognize OPEB expense based on the balance of the closed period 
“layers” attributable to each measurement period.

The average remaining service lives determined as of the beginning of each measurement period 
for the measurement period ended June 30, 2023 was 5.9 years. 

The difference between projected and actual OPEB plan investment earnings attributable to each 
measurement period is amortized over a closed five-year period. 

One year of amortization is recognized in WOU’s total OPEB expense for the measurement period.

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to RHIPA OPEB from the following sources (in thousands):

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources
Differences between expected and 
     actual experience -$                    63$                  
Changes in assumptions 4                     72                    
Net difference between projected and 
     actual earnings on OPEB plan 
     investments 6                     -                       
Total 10$                 135$               
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources before Contributions 
     Subsequent to the Measurement 
     Date (MD) (125)$             
Contributions Subsequent to the MD -                  
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources after Contributions 
     Subsequent to the MD (125)$              

Of the amount reported as deferred outflows of resources, $0 are related to contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date. 

As of June 30, 2024, other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to RHIPA OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows (in thousands):

1st Fiscal Year (41)$               
2nd Fiscal Year (42)
3rd Fiscal Year (19)
4th Fiscal Year (18)
5th Fiscal Year (5)

(125)$             

Deferred Outflow/ (Inflow) of Resources
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ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of projected benefits and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future. Experience studies are performed as of December 31 of even numbered 
years. 

The following key methods and assumptions were used to measure the total RHIA OPEB liability:

 

Valuation Date December 31, 2021
Measurement Date June 30, 2023
Experience Study Report 2020, published July 20, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Inflation Rate 2.40 percent
Long-Term Expected Rate of 
Return 6.90 percent

Discount Rate 6.90 percent
Projected Salary Increases 3.40 percent 
Retiree Healthcare 
Participation

Healthy retirees : 27.5%
Disabled retirees: 15.0%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate Not applicable
Healthy retirees and beneficiaries:

Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Active members:
Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Disabled retirees: 
Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:

Actuarial Assumptions:

Mortality
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The following key methods and assumptions were used to measure the total RHIPA OPEB liability:

Valuation Date December 31, 2021
Measurement Date June 30, 2023
Experience Study Report 2020, published July 20, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Inflation Rate 2.40 percent
Long-Term Expected Rate of 
Return 6.90 percent

Discount Rate 6.90 percent
Projected Salary Increases 3.40 percent 

Retiree Healthcare 
Participation

8-14 Years of Service: 10%
15-19 Years of Service: 11%
20-24 Years of Service: 14%
25-29 Years of Service: 22%
30+ Years of Service: 27%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate
Applied at beginning of plan year, starting with 5.9% for 2021, decreasing to 
4.7% for 2028, increasing to 4.8% for 2037, increasing to 4.9% for 2046, 
and decreasing to an ultimate rate of 3.9% for 2074 and beyond.
Healthy retirees and beneficiaries:

Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Active members:
Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Disabled retirees: 
Pub-2010 Healthy Retriee, sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social 
Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs as 
described in the valuation.

Mortality

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:

Actuarial Assumptions:

 

DISCOUNT RATE 

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability/(asset) at June 30, 2023 was 6.90. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from 
contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. 
Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plans’ fiduciary net position was projected to be available 
to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments for the OPEB Plans was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The sensitivity analysis below shows the sensitivity of WOU’s proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability/(asset) calculated using the discount rate of 6.90 percent as of June 30, 2023, as well as what 
the net OPEB liability/(asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percent 
lower or one percent higher than the current rate:

Discount Rate RHIPA
1% Decrease

5.90%
($282)

Current Discount Rate
6.90%

(301)                

1% Increase
7.90%

(317)                

RHIA

($712)

(783)                  

(844)                  

June 30, 2024

 

The sensitivity analysis below shows the sensitivity of WOU’s proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability/(asset) calculated using the current healthcare cost trend rates, as well as what the net OPEB 
liability/(asset) would be if it were calculated using healthcare trend rates that are one percentage 
point lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rates:

Healthcare Cost Rate RHIPA
1% Decrease ($326)

Current Trend Rate (301)                
1% Increase (273)                

($783)
(783)                  
(783)                  

June 30, 2024
RHIA

 

ASSUMED ASSET ALLOCATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Asset Class/ Strategy Actual
Debt Securities 20.00% 30.00% 25.00% 20.00%
Public Equity 22.50             32.50              27.50          23.30     
Real Estate 9.00                16.50              12.50          13.60     
Private Equity 17.50             27.50              20.00          26.50     
Real Assets 2.50                10.00              7.50            9.10       
Diversifying Strategies 2.50                10.00              7.50            5.00       
Opportunity Portfolio -                  5.00                 -              2.50       
Total 100.00% 100.00%

OIC TargetLow Range High Range

 

LONG-TERM EXPECTED RATE OF RETURN

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, 
in June 2021 the PERS Board reviewed long-term assumptions developed by both Milliman’s capital 
market assumptions team and the OIC investment advisors. Each asset assumption is based on a 
consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes adjustment for the inflation assumption. 
These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-looking 
capital market economic model. 
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The table below shows a summary of the long-term expected rate of return by asset class. For more 
information on the Plan’s portfolio, assumed asset allocation, and the long-term expected rate of 
return for each major asset class, calculated using both arithmetic and geometric means, see PERS’ 
audited financial statements at: 
www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx

LONG-TERM EXPECTED RATE OF RETURN AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Asset Class
Global Equity
Private Equity 25.50
Core Fixed Income 25.00
Real Estate 12.25
Master Limited Partnerships 0.75
Infrastructure 1.50
Hedge Fund of Funds - Multistrategy 1.25
Hedge Fund Equity - Hedge 0.63
Hedge Fund - Macros 5.62

Assumed Inflation – Mean 2.35% 1.41%

20-Year Target Annual Arithmetic Return Annual Standard 

5.44 4.83 7.49

6.27 9.04
7.39 6.48 12.04

15.13
9.41 6.02 27.04
7.88 6.51 17.11

17.99%
12.89 8.83 30.00
4.59 4.50 4.22

27.50% 8.57% 7.07%

6.90 5.83

6.81

 

Negative allocation to cash represents levered exposure from allocation to Risk Parity strategy.

DEPLETION DATE PROJECTION

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions, generally requires that a blended discount rate be used to measure the Total OPEB 
Liability (the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated using the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost Meth-
od). The long-term expected return on plan investments may be used to discount liabilities to the 
extent that the plan’s Fiduciary Net Position (fair market value of assets) is projected to cover bene-
fit payments and administrative expenses. A 20-year high quality (AA/Aa or higher) municipal bond 
rate must be used for periods where the Fiduciary Net Position is not projected to cover benefit pay-
ments and administrative expenses. Determining the discount rate under GASB Statement No. 75 
will often require that the actuary perform complex projections of future benefit payments and as-
set values. GASB Statement No. 75 (paragraph 39) does allow for alternative evaluations of project-
ed solvency if such evaluation can reliably be made. GASB does not contemplate a specific method 
for making an alternative evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to professional judgment. 

The following circumstances justify an alternative evaluation of sufficiency for Oregon PERS: 

·	 Oregon PERS has a formal written policy to calculate an actuarially determined contribution (ADC), 
which is articulated in the actuarial valuation report. 

·	 The ADC is based on a closed, layered amortization period, which means that payment of the full 
ADC each year will bring the plan to a 100 percent funded position by the end of the amortization 
period if future experience follows assumption. 

·	 GASB Statement No. 75 specifies that the projections regarding future solvency assume that plan 
assets earn the assumed rate of return and there are no future changes in the plan provisions 
or actuarial methods and assumptions, which means that the projections would not reflect any 
adverse future experience that might impact the plan’s funded position. 

Based on these circumstances, it is the independent actuary’s opinion that the detailed depletion 
date projections outlined in GASB Statement No. 75 would clearly indicate that the fiduciary net 
position is always projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses.
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B.	PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ BENEFIT BOARD PLAN (PEBB)
WOU participates in a defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan administered by the Public 
Employees Benefit Board (PEBB). This plan offers healthcare assistance to eligible retired employees 
and their beneficiaries. Chapter 243 of the Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) gives PEBB the authority 
to establish and amend the benefit provisions of the PEBB Plan. The PEBB Plan is considered a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan for financial reporting purposes and is not 
administered through a trust. There are no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in 
paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 for the purpose of paying benefits. PEBB does not issue a 
separate, publicly available financial report.

The PEBB Plan allows qualifying retired employees to continue their “active” health insurance 
coverage on a self-pay basis until they are eligible for Medicare. Participating retirees pay their own 
monthly premiums. However, the premium amount is based on a blended rate that is determined 
by pooling the qualifying retirees with active employees, thus, creating an “implicit rate subsidy”.

PROPORTIONATE SHARE ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY

The basis for the employer’s proportion is determined by comparing the employer’s actual 
contributions made during the fiscal year with the total actual contributions made in the fiscal year 
of all employers.

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported a liability of $1,131 for its proportionate share of the total PEBB 
OPEB liability. The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2024, was measured as of June 30, 2024, and 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2022. PEBB does not provide WOU an audited 
proportionate share as a separate employer; WOU is allocated a proportionate share of PEBB 
employer state agencies. DAS calculated WOU’s proportionate share of all state agencies internally 
based on actual contributions by WOU as compared to the total for employer state agencies. The 
Oregon Audits Division reviewed this internal calculation. On June 30, 2024, WOU’s proportion was 
1.05 percent of the statewide OPEB plan. On June 30, 2023, WOU’s proportion was 1.23 percent of 
the statewide OPEB plan.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, WOU recorded total OPEB expense (expense offset) of $(357) 
due to changes in the total OPEB liability, deferred inflows, and amortization of previously deferred 
amounts.

DEFERRED ITEMS

Deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources are calculated at the system-wide 
level and are allocated to employers based on their proportionate share. For the measurement 
period ended June 30, 2024, deferred items included:

·	 Difference due to changes in assumptions
·	 Changes between expected and actual experience

Changes in assumption and changes in proportion are amortized over the closed period equal 
to the average expected remaining service lives of all covered active and inactive participants. 
Employers are required to recognize OPEB expense based on the balance of the closed period 
“layers” attributable to each measurement period. The weighted average expected remaining 
service lives, assuming zero years for all retirees, determined as of the beginning of each 
measurement period for measurement period ended June 30, 2024 was 8.23 years. 
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One year of amortization is recognized in WOU’s total OPEB expense for fiscal year 2024.

On June 30, 2024, WOU reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to PEBB OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources
Differences between expected and 
     actual experience -$                    213$               
Changes in assumptions 17                   320                  
Total 17$                 533$               
Net Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of 
     Resources  $            (516)  

As of June 30, 2024, amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to PEBB OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

1st Fiscal Year (103)$             
2nd Fiscal Year (100)
3rd Fiscal Year (104)
4th Fiscal Year (94)
5th Fiscal Year (69)
Thereafter (46)

(516)$             

Deferred Outflow/ (Inflow) of Resources
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ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of projected benefits and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future. 

The following key methods and assumptions were used to measure the total OPEB liability:

Valuation Date July 1, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Inflation Rate 2.40 percent
Discount Rate 3.93 percent
Projected Salary Increases 3.40 percent 
Withdrawal, Retirement, and 
Mortality Rates December 31, 2021, Oregon PERS valuation

Medical and vision cost increases:

Pursuant to ORS 243.135(8), growth in per-member expenditures under self-
insured plans and premium amounts is assumed to be 3.40% per year.

Dental cost changes:

Pursuant to ORS 243.135(8), growth in per-member expenditures under self-
insured plans and premium amounts is assumed to be 3.40% per year.

30% of eligible employees
60% spouse coverage for males, 35% for females

7% annual lapse rate
Election and Lapse Rates

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:

Actuarial Assumptions:

 

DISCOUNT RATE 

Unfunded plans must use a discount rate that reflects a 20-year tax-exempt municipal bond yield 
or index rate. The Bond Buyer 20-Year General Obligation Bond Index was used to determine the 
discount rate for the OPEB liability. The discount rate in effect for the June 30, 2024, reporting date 
was 3.93 percent.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The sensitivity analysis below shows the sensitivity of WOU’s proportionate share of the total OPEB 
liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents WOU’s proportionate share of the 
total OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.93 percent as of June 30, 2024, as well as 
what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percent 
lower or one percent higher than the current rate:

Discount Rate
1% Decrease

2.93%
Current Discount Rate

3.93%
1% Increase

4.93%

June 30, 2024

$1,210

1,131                

1,056                
 

The sensitivity analysis below shows the sensitivity of WOU’s proportionate share of the total OPEB 
liability calculated using the current healthcare cost trend rates, as well as what the net OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare trend rates that are one percentage point 
lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rates:

Healthcare Cost Rate
1% Decrease

Current Trend Rate
1% Increase

June 30, 2024
$992
1,131                
1,296                

14. FUNDS HELD IN TRUST BY OTHERS
Funds held in trust by others, for which WOU is an income beneficiary, are not recorded in the 
financial records. The approximate value of such trust funds on June 30, 2024, was $1,828.

15. RISK FINANCING
WOU is a member of the Public Universities Risk Management and Insurance Trust (Trust). The 
Trust is a separate legal entity which operates for the benefit of the member universities (Member). 
The Trust is governed by a Board of Trustees comprised of a representative of each Member of the 
Trust. The Trustees administer an insurance program wherein the Members share risk by pooling 
their losses and claims and jointly purchasing insurance and administrative services through the 
Trust. In exchange, Members pay annual assessments and provide the Trustees with information 
or assistance as necessary for the Trustees to determine annual assessments and to purchase 
insurance or reinsurance. By participating, WOU transfers the following risk to the Trust: 

·	 Real property loss for WOU owned building, equipment, automobiles and other types of property
·	 Tort liability claims brought against WOU, its officers, employees or agents
·	 Workers’ compensation and employers’ liability
·	 Crime, Fiduciary
·	 Specialty lines of business including medical practicums, international travel, fine art, camps, 

clinics, and other items.
WOU retains risk for losses under $5, which is the deductible per claim not covered by insurance 
purchased through the Trust.
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WOU is charged with an assessment to cover the Trust’s cost of servicing claims and payments 
based on the Risk Allocation Model and actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior and 
current-year claims. The amount of settlements has not exceeded insurance coverage for the past 
three years.

In addition, WOU purchases various commercial insurance policies to cover the deductible amounts 
of intercollegiate athletics insurance provided through the National Collegiate Athletics Association 
(NCAA) and to provide coverage for special events and student liability.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Outstanding commitments on partially completed and planned but not initiated construction 
projects totaled approximately $15,467 on June 30, 2024. These commitments will be primarily 
funded from gifts, grants, and WOU funds.

CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Total Completed Outstanding
Commitment to Date Commitment

Capital Repairs 2,245$             1,216$           1,029$             
Student Success 20,045 13,593 6,452
Steam Line 13,377 5,391 7,986

35,667$           20,200$         15,467$            

WOU is contingently liable in connection with certain other claims and contracts, including those 
currently in litigation, arising in the normal course of its activities. Management is of the opinion 
that the outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the financial statements.

WOU participates in certain Federal grant programs. These programs are subject to financial 
and compliance audits by the grantor or its representative. Such audits could lead to requests 
for reimbursement to the grantor for expenditures disallowed under the terms of the grant. 
Management believes that disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the financial 
statements.

Unemployment compensation claims are administered by the Oregon Employment Division 
pursuant to ORS Chapter 657. WOU reimburses the Oregon Employment Division on a quarterly 
basis for actual benefits paid. Each year resources are budgeted to pay current charges. The amount 
of future benefit payments to claimants and the resulting liability to WOU cannot be reasonably 
determined on June 30, 2024.

17. WESTERN OREGON UNIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION
Under policies approved by the Board, individual university foundations may be established to 
provide assistance in fund raising, public outreach and other support for the mission of WOU. The 
Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt entity with an independent governing board. Although 
WOU does not control the timing or amount of receipts from the Foundation, the majority of 
resources, or income thereon, that the Foundation holds and invests are restricted to the activities 
of WOU by the donors. Because these restricted resources held by the Foundation can only be 
used by, or for the benefit of, WOU, the Foundation is considered a component unit of WOU and is 
discretely presented in the financial statements. The financial activity is reported for the year ended 
June 30, 2024. The Foundation is audited annually and received an unmodified audit opinion. 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, gifts of $1,648 were transferred from the Foundation to WOU. 
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Please see the financial statements for the WOU component unit included in this report.

Complete financial statements for the foundation may be obtained by writing to the following: 

·	 Western Oregon University Foundation, 345 N. Monmouth Ave., Monmouth, OR 97361 
 

18. RESTATEMENT AND REISSUANCE
WOU determined subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements that a portion of the 
noncurrent cash and cash equivalents should have been shown as current. As such, the Statement of 
Net Position and Notes to the financial statements are reported below:

 

 As 
Previously 
Reported 

 Error 
Correction 

 Restated 
Balance 

Statement of Net Position
Current Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,276$       3,716$       8,992$       
Total Current Assets 29,536       3,716         33,252       

Noncurrent Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents 4,392         (3,716)        676            

Total Noncurrent Assets 175,387    (3,716)        171,671    

There was no change to the amount reported as the Change in Net Position as a result of the error 
correction. 
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For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Actuarially Determined 
     Contributions1 -$        3$           4$           5$           142$          130$       129$       138$       133$       138$       
Contributions in Relation to the 
     Actuarially Determined 
     Contributions -          3             4             5             142            130         129         138         133         138         
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$        -$        -$        -$        -$           -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        

Covered Payroll 31,985$ 30,511$ 28,504$ 28,189$ 31,552$    28,641$ 28,150$ 28,522$ 27,224$ 25,614$ 
Contributions as a Percentage of 
     Covered Payroll 0.00% 0.01% 0.01% 0.02% 0.45% 0.45% 0.46% 0.48% 0.49% 0.54%

1For Actuarial Assumptions and Methods, see table in Note 13.

As of the Measurement Date June 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
University's Allocation of the
    Net RHIA OPEB Asset/(Liability) 0.21% 0.22% 0.28% 0.27% 0.27% 0.26% 0.30% 0.29%
University's Proportionate Share of the
    Net RHIA OPEB Asset/(Liability) 783$       791$       953$       4,125$       (526)$     290$       124$       (79)$        
University's Covered Payroll 30,511$ 28,504$ 28,189$ 31,552$    28,641$ 28,150$ 28,522$ 27,224$ 

University's Proportionate Share of the
    Net RHIA OPEB Asset/(Liability) as
    a Percentage of Covered Payroll 2.57% 2.78% 3.38% 13.07% -1.84% 1.03% 0.43% -0.29%Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 
Percentage of the Total RHIA OPEB 
    Asset/(Liability) 201.60% 194.60% 183.86% 150.09% 144.38% 123.99% 108.88% 94.15%

*This table will eventually contain 10 years of data. Only the data presented above is available at this time.

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PERS RHIA OPEB ASSET/(LIABILITY)*

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY PERS RHIA OPEB EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION

For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Contractually Required Contribution 5,538$     4,839$     4,613$     3,993$     4,432$     3,028$     3,125$     2,362$     2,337$     1,846$     
Contributions in Relation to the Contractually 
     Required Contribution 5,538       4,839       4,613       3,993       4,432       3,028       3,125       2,362       2,337       1,846       
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         -$         

Covered Payroll 31,985$  30,511$  29,318$  28,904$  31,552$  28,646$  28,155$  28,527$  27,229$  25,618$  
Contributions as a Percentage of 
   Covered Payroll 17.31% 15.86% 15.73% 13.81% 14.05% 10.57% 11.10% 8.28% 8.58% 7.21%

As of the Measurement Date June 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
University's Proportion of the Net Pension
    Asset/(Liability) 0.23% 0.21% 0.20% 0.23% 0.22% 0.22% 0.26% 0.26% 0.23% 0.22%

University's Proportionate Share of the
    Net Pension Asset/(Liability) (42,472)$ (32,042)$ (23,369)$ (49,387)$ (37,199)$ (33,824)$ (35,461)$ (39,513)$ (13,285)$ 4,952$     
University's Covered Payroll 30,511$  29,318$  28,904$  31,552$  28,646$  28,155$  28,527$  27,229$  25,618$  24,475$  
University's Proportionate Share of the Net
    Pension Asset/(Liability) as a Percentage
    of Covered Payroll 139.20% 109.29% 80.85% 156.53% 129.86% 120.13% 124.31% 145.10% 51.90% 20.23%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of
    the Total Pension Asset/(Liability) 81.70% 84.50% 87.57% 75.79% 80.23% 82.07% 83.12% 80.50% 91.89% 103.59%

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY CONTRIBUTIONS

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE 
NET PENSION ASSET/(LIABILITY)

Public Employees Retirement System 

Public Employees Retirement System 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Actuarially Determined 
     Contributions1 -$        59$         57$         86$         130$           120$       120$       111$       107$       60$         
Contributions in Relation to the 
     Actuarially Determined 
     Contributions -          59           57           86           130              120         120         111         107         60           
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$        -$        -$        -$        -$            -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        

Covered Payroll 31,985$ 30,511$ 28,504$ 28,189$ 31,552$      28,641$ 28,150$ 28,522$ 27,224$ 25,614$ 
Contributions as a Percentage of 
     Covered Payroll 0.00% 0.19% 0.20% 0.31% 0.41% 0.42% 0.43% 0.39% 0.39% 0.23%

1For Actuarial Assumptions and Methods, see table in Note 13.

As of the Measurement Date June 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
University's Allocation of the Net
    RHIPA OPEB Asset/(Liability) 0.68% 0.68% 0.74% 1.15% 0.87% 0.89% 0.96% 0.98%
University's Proportionate Share of
    the Net RHIPA OPEB
    Asset/(Liability) 301$       233$       115$       (114)$          (229)$     (314)$     (448)$     (527)$     
University's Covered Payroll 30,511$ 28,504$ 28,189$ 31,552$      28,641$ 28,150$ 28,522$ 27,224$ 
University's Proportionate Share of
    the Net RHIPA OPEB 
    Asset/(Liability) as a Percentage
    of Covered Payroll 0.99% 0.82% 0.41% 0.36% 0.80% 1.12% 1.57% 1.94%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
    Percentage of the Total RHIPA
    OPEB Asset/(Liability) 193.20% 169.70% 124.64% 84.45% 64.86% 49.79% 34.25% 21.87%

*This table will eventually contain 10 years of data. Only the data presented is available at this time.

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY PERS RHIPA OPEB EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PERS RHIPA OPEB ASSET/(LIABILITY)*

As of June 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
University's Allocation of the Total OPEB Liability 1.05% 1.23% 1.14% 1.24% 1.32% 1.27% 1.34% 1.38%
University's Proportionate Share of the Total OPEB Liability 1,131$     1,300$     1,401$     1,871$      1,933$   2,047$   1,990$   1,993$   
University's Covered Payroll 42,717$  42,216$  39,894$  38,090$   41,539$ 39,703$ 38,966$ 38,929$ 
University's Proportionate Share of the Total OPEB Liability as a 
     Percentage of University Covered Payroll 2.65% 3.08% 3.51% 4.91% 4.65% 5.16% 5.11% 5.12%
Total OPEB Liability as a % of Total Covered Payroll 2.05% 2.19% 2.76% 3.72% 3.77% 4.31% 4.42% 4.45%

There are no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 for the purpose of
paying benefits.

*This table will eventually contain 10 years of data. Only the data presented is available at this time.

SCHEDULE OF UNIVERSITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE  TOTAL PEBB OPEB LIABILITY*
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